Cultivation of *Nannochloropsis salina* and *Dunaliella tertiolecta* Using Shale Gas Flowback Water and Anaerobic Digestion Effluent as Cultivation Medium

THESIS

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science in the Graduate School of The Ohio State University

By

Ratanachat Racharaks

Graduate Program in Food, Agricultural and Biological Engineering

The Ohio State University

2014

Master's Examination Committee:

Dr. Yebo Li, Advisor

Dr. Peter Ling

Dr. Jiyoung Lee

Copyright by

Ratanachat Racharaks

2014

Abstract

Microalgae have been extensively studied for their capabilities in producing more lipids per acre than agricultural crops. Because of high costs, this technology has yet been proven economical on a large scale. Currently unreported is the use of flowback water from shale gas exploration as a way to reduce costs by meeting the water demand of marine microalgae cultivation. Additionally, while anaerobic digestion (AD) effluent has been shown as a promising alternative nutrient source for microalgae cultivation, unreported is the use of AD effluent as a nutrient supplement for the cultivation with flowback water.

This study hypothesized that the combination of the flowback water, as the source of water, and the AD effluent, as the source of nutrients, may act as a growth medium for marine microalgae cultivation. To validate this hypothesis, three marine microalgal strains were evaluated on the ability to adapt to different concentrations of the AD effluent in the flowback water. Among the microalgal candidates, it was determined that *Nannochloropsis salina* and *Dunaliella tertiolecta*, microalgal strains previously considered as candidates for biofuels and pigment production, were the most tolerant to the inhibitors found in the flowback water and the AD effluent. These microalgal strains were found to achieve the highest average biomass productivity in the medium composed of the flowback water supplemented with the AD effluent loading of 6%. Algal growth in this medium was then compared to growth in a

medium composed of commercial nutrients and salts at similar initial inorganic nitrogen (~132 mg L⁻¹ N), salinity (~42 g L⁻¹), and pH (~7.97) levels. Comparable growth in both media was found with the specific growth rates of 0.293 and 0.348 day⁻¹ and the average biomass productivities of 225 and 275 mg L⁻¹ day⁻¹ for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta*, respectively.

Analysis of the lipid content and profile of both strains cultivated in the medium composed of the flowback water supplemented with the 6% AD effluent further indicated that the medium had little effect on the lipid productivity of both microalgal strains. A parameter evaluated was the cetane number of the total microalgal fatty acids. The cetane number is an indicator of the potential fuel quality of the microalgal-derived biodiesel as a higher cetane number implies easier ignition and lower nitrous oxide emissions. While a minor decrease of 1.84% was observed for the cetane number of *N. salina*, no significant differences were observed for *D. tertiolecta* when compared to the values obtained in a medium composed of commercial nutrients and salts. These results suggested that comparable lipids with similar profiles could be produced by using the medium composed of the flowback water and the AD effluent.

Another objective of this research was to evaluate the effects of chemicals and microbial communities in the AD effluent and the flowback water on algal growth and sedimentation. By autoclaving the algal growth media, that contained different combinations of the nutrient and salinity sources, it was determined that the ability to examine the influence of the microbial activity was not feasible due to the significant losses of ammonium concentrations from the autoclaving process. A greater difference in the specific growth rate of *D. tertiolecta* was found after cultivation in the autoclaved and non-autoclaved media containing commercial salts than the difference found after cultivation in the autoclaved and non-autoclaved media containing the flowback water. The specific growth rate of *D. tertiolecta* in the autoclaved media containing commercial salts and the autoclaved media containing the flowback water, however, were not significantly different. As *D. tertiolecta* is a known microalga sensitive to concentrations of free-ammonia, it was hypothesized that the higher ionic strength of the flowback water may minimize ammonia, derived from the loading of the AD effluent, from dissociating into free-ammonia in the growth media. Further research is still necessary to reveal the mechanisms involved as the autoclaving process may have also effected concentrations of unknown growth inhibitors.

This research found that cultivation of marine microalgae in shale gas flowback water is feasible and, when coupled with AD effluent, may be able to result in comparable growth and lipid productivities to values achieved by using commercial nutrients and salts. The ability to use shale gas flowback water and AD effluent to cultivate marine microalgae may reduce production costs and improve the economic viability of the algae biofuels industry.

iv

Dedication

This document is dedicated to my family.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Yebo Li, for his support and guidance over the past 6 years I have known him. Before I had background in any field of research, Dr. Li was willing to take a chance by hiring me as an intern during the first year of my education at Ohio State University. As a result, I had an invaluable experience learning from personal like Caixia Wan whose talent and dedication formed the basis of who I am as a researcher today. During this time, I also had the opportunity to meet Ting Cai, Stephen Park, and Johnathon Sheets whose prior research inspired my interest in microalgae and later formed the entire focus of the thesis presented in this paper.

I would also like to thank Mike Klingman, Dr. Jiyoung Lee, and Dr. Peter Ling for all their help and willingness to listen to the multitude of crazy ideas I have developed over the course of my graduate education. Dr. Lee was there for me during my time in Columbus when I believed I could analyze the microbial community of shale flowback water in the hopes of discovering a symbiotic bacterium. Dr. Ling was there for me during my time in Wooster when I believed I could revolutionize microalgae research by creating a high-throughput photobioreactor. I also cannot thank Mike enough for actually transforming my dreams of a high-throughput photobioreactor into a reality. While it pains me that I cannot include the results from those proposed experiments in this thesis, I will continue to carry those ideas with me as I progress as a researcher.

During my time working under Dr. Li's lab, I have met many amazing students and professionals. I would especially like to thank Dr. Xumeng Ge who has tolerated my incessant questioning and asking for advice. I would also like to thank Xinjie Tong, Juliana Vasco, Fuqing Xu, Long Lin, Dr. Liangcheng Yang, Dr. Xiaolan Luo, and Dr. Yuqin Lin for making our lab feel like a home away from home. Last but not least, I cannot thank my parents enough whom without I would have starved to death before the completion of this thesis.

Vita

1989	Born, Akron, Ohio	
2012	B.S. Food, Agricultural and Biological	
	Engineering, The Ohio State University	
2012-Present	Graduate Research Fellow, Food,	
	Agricultural and Biological Engineering,	
	The Ohio State University	

Publications

B.J. Allred and R. Racharaks. Laboratory Comparison of Four Iron-Based Filter Materials for Drainage Water Phosphate Treatment. *Water Environment Research*. (submitted)

Cai, T. Park, S., Racharaks, R., Li, Y. 2013. Cultivation of *Nannochloropsis salina* in anaerobic digestion effluent for nutrient removal and lipid production. *Appl. Energy*. 108: 486-492.

Fields of Study

Major Field: Food, Agricultural and Biological Engineering

Study in: Biological Engineering

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Dedication v
Acknowledgmentsvi
Vitaviii
Table of Contents ix
List of Tablesxiii
List of Figures xiv
Chapter 1: Introduction
1.1. Background
1.2. Research Objectives
Chapter 2: Cultivation of Marine Microalgae in Flowback Water Supplemented with Anaerobic Digestion Effluent
2.1. Introduction
2.2. Literature Review
2.2.1. Wastewater as a medium for microalgae cultivation7
2.2.2. The potential of shale gas flowback water as a water source for microalgae cultivation
2.2.3. The potential of anaerobic digestion effluent as a source of nutrients for microalgae cultivation

2.2.4. Characteristics of marine microalgae	11
2.3. Materials and Methods	12
2.3.1. Microalgal strains and seed cultures	12
2.3.2. Shale gas flowback water and anaerobic digestion effluent	13
2.3.3. Cultivation of microalgae in flowback water with different anaerobic digestion effluent loadings	14
2.3.4. Cultivation of N. salina and D. tertiolecta using different nutrient and salinity sources	15
2.3.5. Microalgal lipid analysis	16
2.3.6. Chemical composition analysis of growth media	18
2.3.7. Development of calibration curves for determining algal biomass concentration	19
2.3.8. Nonlinear regression and statistical analysis	20
2.4. Results and Discussion	22
2.4.1. Chemical composition of shale gas flowback water and anaerobic digestion effluent	22
2.4.2. Effect of anaerobic digestion effluent loadings on microalgal growth in flowback water	26
2.4.3. Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal growth	33
2.4.4. Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal lipid production	36
2.5. Conclusions	39
Chapter 3: Effects of Chemicals and Microbial Communities in Anaerobic Digestion Effluent and Shale Gas Flowback Water on Algal Growth and Sedimentation	40
3.1. Introduction	41
3.2. Literature Review	44
3.2.1. Growth-promoting bacteria	44
3.2.2. Bioflocculant-producing microbes	45
3.2.3. Microbial communities in shale gas flowback water and anaerobic digestion effluent	47

3.2.4. Current methods to measure microalgal sedimentation kinetics	. 48
3.3. Materials and Methods	. 50
3.3.1. Cultivation of N. salina and D. tertiolecta in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media	. 50
3.3.2. Evaluation of a microplate-based method to measure sedimentation kinetics	. 52
3.3.3. Analysis of sedimentation kinetics	. 53
3.4. Results and Discussion	. 54
3.4.1. Cultivation of N. salina and D. tertiolecta in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media	. 54
3.4.2. Sedimentation kinetics of N. salina and D. tertiolecta in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media	. 62
3.5. Conclusion	. 72
Chapter 4: Conclusions and Recommendations	. 73
References	. 76
Appendix A: Wavelength Selection for Algal Biomass Estimations Based on Optical Density	. 87
A.1. Introduction	. 88
A.2. Literature Review	. 89
A.3. Materials and Methods	. 93
A.3.1. The relationship between wavelength, optical density, and algal dry	
biomass	. 93
A.3.2. Impact of wavelength on microalgal growth estimations	. 94
A.3.3. Evaluation of optical density as a method to approximate algal biomass	. 94

A.4. Results and Discussion	96
A.4.1. The relationship between wavelength, optical density, and algal dry	
biomass	96
A.4.2. Impact of wavelength on microalgal growth estimations	05
A.4.3. Evaluation of optical density as a method to approximate algal biomass 1	07
A.5. Conclusions	14

List of Tables

Table 1: Experimental design for evaluating microalgal growth in the flowback water		
supplemented with different loadings of the anaerobic digestion effluent 15		
Table 2: Chemical composition of the shale gas flowback water		
Table 3: Chemical composition of commercial sea salt. 25		
Table 4: Chemical composition of the anaerobic digestion effluent. 25		
Table 5: Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal lipid content and profile 38		
Table 6: Experimental design for evaluating the effects of chemicals and microbial		
communities in the anaerobic digestion effluent and the shale gas flowback		
water on algal growth and sedimentation		
Table 7: The pH of autoclaved and non-autoclaved media before and after algal		
cultivation		
Table 8: Previously used wavelengths to approximate microalgal biomass		
Table 9: Effect of wavelength selection on the root-mean-square error (RMSE) of the		
linear regression between optical density and algal biomass concentration 104		

List of Figures

Figure 1: Effect of anaerobic digestion effluent loadings on growth of <i>D. salina</i> in the
flowback water
Figure 2: Effect of anaerobic digestion effluent loadings on growth of (a) D.
tertiolecta and (b) N. salina in the flowback water
Figure 3: Effect of anaerobic digestion effluent loadings on (a) specific growth rate
and (b) average biomass productivity for N. salina and D. tertiolecta
cultured in the flowback water
Figure 4: Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal (a) specific growth rate
and (b) average biomass productivity
Figure 5: Effect of autoclaving media on specific growth rate of (a) <i>N. salina</i> and (b)
D. tertiolecta
Figure 6: Effect of autoclaving media on average biomass productivity of (a) N.
salina and (b) D. tertiolecta
Figure 7: Microplate-based sedimentation kinetics of marine microalgae under
different loadings of 2% sodium azide 64
Figure 8: Effect of autoclaving media on microplate-based sedimentation kinetics of
N. salina
Figure 9: Effect of autoclaving media on microplate-based sedimentation kinetics of
D. tertiolecta70

Figure 11: Effect of wavelength selection on the correlation coefficient (R^2) between

algal dry biomass and optical density for (a) *N. salina* and (b) *D*.

tertiolecta 100

- Figure 12: Effect of wavelength selection on the correlation coefficient (R²) between algal dry biomass and optical density for (a) *D. salina* and (b) *T. suecica...* 101

- Figure 17: Effect of biomass quantification method on the estimated growth of *D*. *tertiolecta* in media composed of different nutrient and salinity sources.... 110
- Figure 18: Effect of biomass quantification method on the estimated (a) specific growth rate and (b) average biomass productivity for *N. salina* and *D.*

tertiolecta cultivated in media composed of different nutrient and salinity

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1. Background

U.S energy consumption is estimated to grow at an average annual rate of 0.3 % from 2010 through 2035 (EIA, 2012). The continued growth in the demand for energy over the next 25 years has made microalgae an increasingly attractive option for use as a biofuel feedstock. Studied extensively by the U.S. Department of Energy, microalgae have the capability of capturing carbon dioxide, producing high-value pigments, and yielding more lipids per acre than agricultural crops (Hammouda et al., 1995; Sheehan et al., 1998). Meeting the water and nutrient requirements for algal cultivation, however, remains a significant barrier to the economic viability of algal biofuels (Jonker and Faaij, 2012).

While seawater has been proposed as an alternative water source for commercial microalgae cultivation, more inland saline water resources are required to have a significant impact on microalgae production facilities (Department Of Energy, 2009; Lansford and Solar Energy Research Institute., 1990; Olguin et al., 1997). The use of shale gas flowback water for marine microalgae cultivation has not yet been reported. Produced at a volume between 2 and 6 million gallons per well life, flowback water is an increasingly available wastewater resource that may meet the water demand of commercial marine microalgae production (M.E.Blauch et al., 2009).

Additionally, researchers have proposed a way to reduce costs associated with microalgae cultivation by using anaerobic digestion (AD) effluent to meet the nutrient requirements (Cai, 2012; Wang et al., 2010). Implemented to treat a variety of organic wastes, AD converts organic matter into biogas and produces a nutrient-rich effluent. The high levels of total phosphorus and total nitrogen, which have raised concerns regarding watershed eutrophication after land application, have also made AD effluent a likely candidate for algal cultivation (Godos et al., 2009). The use of AD effluent as a supplement for marine microalgae cultivation with flowback water, however, remains currently unreported.

1.2. Research Objectives

This study hypothesizes that the combination of the flowback water, as the source of water, and the anaerobic digestion (AD) effluent, as the source of nutrients, may act as a growth medium for marine microalgae cultivation. The following main objectives and specific aims were achieved to test the hypothesis:

Objective 1: Cultivation of marine microalgae in flowback water supplemented with AD effluent Specific aims: 1.1. Effect of AD effluent loadings on microalgal growth in flowback water

1.2. Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal growth

1.3. Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on lipid production

<u>Objective 2</u>: Evaluation of the effects of chemicals and microbial communities in AD effluent and shale gas flowback water on algal growth and sedimentation Specific aims:

2.1. Cultivation of *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media

2.2. Sedimentation kinetics of *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media

Chapter 2: Cultivation of Marine Microalgae in Flowback Water Supplemented with Anaerobic Digestion Effluent

Abstract

Shale gas flowback water and AD effluent were evaluated as potential water and nutrient sources for the cultivation of marine microalgae. *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* grew well in the flowback water with the AD effluent loadings of 2% to 10%. The highest average biomass productivities were observed at the 6% AD effluent loading in the flowback water. Subsequent experiments involved microalgae cultivation in commercial nutrients and salts at similar initial inorganic nitrogen (132 NH₄-N mg L⁻¹), pH (7.97), and salinity (42 g L⁻¹) levels. These results suggested that both microalgal strains could achieve comparable specific growth rates and average biomass productivities in the media composed solely of the wastewater resources. Additionally, the lipid content and profile obtained by using the flowback water and AD effluent medium were found to be mostly comparable to values obtained in the mediam composed of the commercial nutrients and salts. These results suggested that comparable growth and lipids with similar profiles could be achieved by using the combination of the flowback water and the AD effluent as a culture medium for marine microalgae.

2.1. Introduction

Ever since the U.S. Department of Energy's Aquatic Species Program in the 1970's-1980's, a significant interest has been given to microalgae-based biofuels as they offer a number of advantages over crop-based biofuels. Microalgae have the capability of yielding more lipids per acre than agricultural crops, producing high-value pigments, and growing on non-arable land (Hammouda et al., 1995; Pittman et al., 2011; Sheehan et al., 1998). Meeting the water and nutrient requirements for algal cultivation, however, is a significant barrier to the economic viability of algal biofuels (Department Of Energy, 2009).

To meet this water and nutrient demand, the use of seawater and various lowstrength wastewaters have been proposed (Pittman et al., 2011). Life cycle analysis estimated that the use of seawater can decrease water requirement by 90% (Yang et al., 2011). More inland saline water resources, however, are required as proper positioning of microalgae production facilities can have a significant impact on economic sustainability (Department Of Energy, 2009; Lansford and Solar Energy Research Institute., 1990). The saline flowback water from shale gas exploration, an increasingly available wastewater resource, may meet the water demand of commercial marine microalgae production. Additionally, while anaerobic digestion (AD) effluent been shown as a promising alternative nutrient source for microalgae cultivation, also currently unreported is the use of AD effluent as a nutrient supplement for the cultivation with flowback water. The objective of this chapter was to evaluate biomass and lipid production from marine microalgae cultivated in the flowback water supplemented with the AD effluent. To address this objective, three specific aims were studied: 1) effect of AD effluent loadings on microalgal growth in flowback water, 2) effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal growth, and 3) effect of nutrient and salinity sources on lipid production. A batch study was performed in which three different marine microalgal strains were cultivated in media composed of multiple AD effluent loadings in the flowback water. The optimal effluent loading and the most robust strains were further evaluated against a modified commercial medium at similar inorganic nitrogen, salinity, and pH levels. The performance of the microalgal strains was evaluated by comparing the growth and lipid productivities observed in both media.

2.2. Literature Review

2.2.1. Wastewater as a medium for microalgae cultivation

The water and nutrient requirements for microalgal cultivation is significant concern for feasible commercial production. A 1 hectare, 20 cm deep open pond has been estimated to require 530,000 gallons of water for algal cultivation (Department Of Energy, 2009). Additionally, nitrogen, phosphorous, and iron supplements can account for the cost of 6-8 cents per gallon of algal fuel in 1987 U.S. dollars (Benemann and Oswald, 1996). Such costs have prohibited the use of reagent- or agricultural-grade nutrients and have made water and nutrient sources from municipal, agricultural, or industrial waste streams increasingly attractive alternatives (Department Of Energy, 2009).

Microalgae have been shown to be adaptable to various chemical compounds and have been successfully cultured in wide variety of wastewaters. For example, microalgae have been found tolerant to wastewaters polluted with xenobiotic pollutants such as phenol, phenanthrene, naphthalene, and crude oil (Cerniglia et al., 1980; Narro et al., 1992; Pinto et al., 2002; Raghukumar et al., 2001; Semple et al., 1999). Additionally, microalgae cultivation in municipal and agricultural wastewaters with significant nitrogen, phosphorous, and heavy metals concentrations has been extensively studied (Cai et al., 2013b; Pittman et al., 2011). An advantage of cultivating microalgae in wastewaters is that significant quantities of lipids can also be produced. Untreated carpet mill wastewater, when coupled with microalgae cultivation, has been estimated to potentially yield 3260 to 3830 L ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ of lipids (Chinnasamy et al., 2010). Similarly,

Wang et al. (2010) assessed batch culture-grown *Chlorella* sp. in diluted anaerobically digested dairy manure and estimated a maximal lipid productivity of ~11 mg L^{-1} day⁻¹.

2.2.2. The potential of shale gas flowback water as a water source for microalgae cultivation

Shale formations extend throughout the continental United States with an estimated 63 % (472 trillion cubic feet) of the estimated 750 trillion cubic feet of technically recoverable shale gas located in the Northeast region (EIA, 2011). Hydrocarbons, such as natural gas, are formed by either biogenic or thermogenic processes and are subsequently trapped in natural fractures of solid aggregates such as shale (Jenkins and Boyer, 2008; Soeder and Kappel, 2009). To overcome the low permeability of the shale and to make gas production economically viable, an aqueous fluid is injected in the formation at high pressures to create fissures and interconnected cracks in a process called hydraulic fracturing (Gregory et al., 2011; Wiseman, 2008). The aqueous fluid that returns to the surface after hydraulic pressure is relieved, called "flowback water", is the primary wastewater associated with shale gas production (Gregory et al., 2011). The Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection estimated that the gas industry alone produced 235 million gallons of wastewater in the second half of 2010 (Abdalla et al., 2011). Because of high handling costs and the scarcity of brine disposal facilities, flowback water is an increasingly available wastewater resource that may meet the water demand of commercial microalgae production (M.E.Blauch et al., 2009).

Depending on the time period of contact with the shale formation, flowback water can contain various concentrations of dissolved minerals and organic compounds (Gregory et al., 2011; GWPC et al., 2009). The created brine solution may be composed of salts, metals, oils, greases, soluble organic compounds, and radioactivity from radioactive underground sources (Abdalla et al., 2011; Gregory et al., 2011). The total dissolved solids (TDS), primarily from soluble chloride salts, has been reported to range from 66,000 mg L⁻¹ to 261,000 mg L⁻¹ from wells located in western Pennsylvania (Gregory et al., 2011).

While cultivation of microalgae in flowback water has not yet been reported, a potential analogue is coal seam gas (CSG) water. Similar to shale gas, CSG is mostly methane that is absorbed into a solid matrix. The pores and fractures in the coal are often saturated with water which is released when pressure in the formation is reduced during gas extraction. Also like flowback water, CSG water normally contains elevated levels of dissolved salts creating concerns regarding treatment and disposal (Hamawand et al., 2013). While research utilizing CSG water for algae cultivation is currently limited, research by Buchanan (2012) suggested that algal growth in CSG water was possibly impeded by elevated salinity levels as a lag phase between 7 and 9 times longer than other waters was observed. As the salinity of the flowback water may effect algal growth in a similar manner, the salinity of the medium with the optimum AD effluent loading in flowback water was recorded and used as a controlled factor in future experiments.

9

2.2.3. The potential of anaerobic digestion effluent as a source of nutrients for microalgae cultivation

Anaerobic digestion (AD) is a process in which microorganisms break down complex organic materials into simpler monomers, resulting in the production of biogas (CH₄ and CO₂) and residual effluent (Khanal, 2010). Because of the high levels of total phosphorus and total nitrogen, AD effluent has been considered a potential agricultural fertilizer to conserve and recycle valuable nutrients (Salminen et al., 2001). Over applying effluent to agricultural fields, however, can result in environmental hazards such as watershed eutrophication (Godos et al., 2009). These concerns have made application of AD effluent to algal cultivation an increasingly attractive alternative (Salminen et al., 2001).

Successful cultivation of microalgae in AD effluent has been previously reported for a variety of microalgal strains under different cultivation conditions (Cai et al., 2013a; Cai et al., 2013c; Park et al., 2010; Sheets et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2010). For example, cultures of *Synechocystis* sp. were found to grow 83% and 20% higher than *Nannochloropsis salina* at 3% and 6% AD effluent loadings, respectively (Cai et al., 2013a). Reported growth inhibition by strain specific responses as well as higher effluent concentrations is believed to be dependent on a combination of abiotic and biotic factors of the effluent. Abiotic factors may include levels of inhibitors, such as ammonia and heavy metals, or the degree of turbidity which might interfere with light penetration of the medium (Cai et al., 2013c; Pittman et al., 2011; Sheets et al., 2014). Biotic factors may include the presence of pathogenic bacteria, predatory zooplankton, or competitive microorganisms (Pittman et al., 2011).

2.2.4. Characteristics of marine microalgae

Various marine microalgal strains have been previously studied based on their ability to adapt to different salinities, produce large quantities of intracellular lipids, and produce high-value pigments. For example, *Nannochloropsis salina* is a known marine microalga with a high lipid content (up to 50%) (Emdadi and Berland, 1989), high biomass productivity (up to 24.5 g m⁻² day⁻¹) (Boussiba et al., 1987), and high contents of the nutritionally-valuable eicosapentaenoic acid (Krienitz and Wirth, 2006). Additionally, *N. salina* is known to produce commercially-valuable pigments such as zeaxanthin, canthaxanthin, and astaxanthin (Lubián et al., 2000).

The *Dunaliella* genus of microalgae has also been extensively studied and is unique in its robust tolerance to varying salinity levels. For example, *Dunaliella tertiolecta* is known to tolerate high salinity levels (up to ~1.0 M NaCl) as well as accumulate high levels of intracellular lipids (~67%) (Takagi et al., 2006). Similarly, *Dunaliella salina* is known to tolerate hypersaline conditions (up to ~5.5 M NaCl) as well as accumulate large amounts of the commercially-valuable pigment, β -carotene (Chen et al., 2011b).

While some microalgal strains, such as *N. salina*, have been successfully cultured in media composed of AD effluent (Cai et al., 2013c; Sheets et al., 2014), currently no studies have been reported on the culturing of *N. salina*, *D. tertiolecta*, or *D. salina* in media composed of flowback water.

2.3. Materials and Methods

2.3.1. Microalgal strains and seed cultures

Marine microalgae *Nannochloropsis salina* (849/6), *Dunaliella tertiolecta* (19/27), *Dunaliella salina* (19/18), and *Tetraselmis suecica* (66/38) were obtained from Culture Collection of Algae and Protozoa (CCAP, Oban, Scotland). Seed cultures of these strains were maintained in 2-L reactors (1-L working volume) at 25°C under constant illumination (200 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) using 32-watt florescent lamps (GE Lighting, Ravenna, OH, USA). The photosynthetic photon flux of the light was measured by a quantum meter (BQM, Apogee Instruments, Logan, UT, USA). Reactors were placed in a white coated chamber and each reactor was equipped with a rubber stopper and a 4.76 mm diameter stainless steel tube for air inlet/outlet. Air sparging, by the use of filtersterilized (0.2 μ m Whatman PTFE Puradisc, GE Healthcare, Maidstone, UK) ambient air (0.039% CO₂) at an airflow rate of 650 mL min⁻¹, was used to provide mixing and CO₂ for algal growth. The salinity of the culture media, described below, was maintained with 40 g L⁻¹ of commercial sea salt (Instant Ocean[®] sea salt, Spectrum Brands, Madison, WI, USA).

N. salina and *T. suecica* cultures were cultivated in commercial f/2 media (Proline f/2 algae feed, Pentair Aquatic Eco-Systems, FL, USA) containing the following ingredients: 0.075 g L^{-1} NaNO₃, 0.00565 g L^{-1} NaH₂PO₄·2H₂O, 1 mL L⁻¹ trace elements stock solution, and 1 mL L⁻¹ vitamin mix stock solution. The minor ingredients in the trace element stock solution included Na₂EDTA, FeCl₃·6H₂O, CuSO₄·5H₂O,

 $ZnSO_4 \cdot 7H_2O$, $CoCl_2 \cdot 6H_2O$, $MnCl_2 \cdot 4H_2O$, $Na_2MoO_4 \cdot 2H_2O$, and biotin. The vitamin stock solution contained cyanocobalamin, and thiamine HCl.

D. tertiolecta was cultured in artificial seawater media (ASW) formulated by McLachlan (1964) containing the following ingredients: 3.75 mL L^{-1} extra salts stock solution, 2.50 mL L^{-1} vitamin stock solution, 25 mL L^{-1} soil extract, and 0.50 g L^{-1} tricine. The extra salts stock solution contained 30.0 g L^{-1} NaNO₃, 1.20 g Na₂HPO₄, and $1.0 \text{ g L}^{-1} \text{ K}_2 \text{HPO}_4$. The vitamin stock solution contained biotin, calcium pantothenate, cyanocabalamin, folic acid, inositol, nicotinic acid, thiamine HCL, and thymine. The media were further enriched with commercial f/2 media using 1 mL L⁻¹ trace elements stock solution and 1 mL L⁻¹ vitamin mix stock solution. Soil extract was prepared by sieving 500-mL of air-dried deciduous woodland soil (Akron, OH, USA) though a fine mesh (2-4 mm). Deionized water (DI) at a volume of 1000-mL was then added and the resulting solution was autoclaving at 15 psi for 2 hours. The supernatant was then filtered to remove remaining particulates using filter paper (Whatman No 1 filter paper, GE Healthcare, Maidstone, UK) and then refrigerated at 4°C until use. D. salina was cultured in ASW media enriched with commercial f/2 media, as described above, with the addition of 35 g L^{-1} NaCl.

2.3.2. Shale gas flowback water and anaerobic digestion effluent

Shale gas flowback water was provided by a commercial oil and natural gas company (Weatherford International LTD, Geneva, Switzerland) and stored at 4°C. Prior to use, the flowback water was centrifuged for 15 min at 8,000 rpm using a tabletop centrifuge (Sorvall RC 6+ centrifuge, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) to reduce the presence of suspended particulate matter.

Municipal wastewater AD effluent was collected from a commercial-scale liquid anaerobic digestion (KB Compost Services, Akron, OH, USA). The effluent was centrifuged at 3200 rpm by a continuous solid bowl decanter centrifuge (D5LL, ANDRITZ AG, Graz, Austria). The centrate/permeate was collected and stored at 4°C prior to use.

2.3.3. Cultivation of microalgae in flowback water with different anaerobic digestion effluent loadings

N. salina, D. tertiolecta, and *D. salina* were cultured in 250-mL Erlenmeyer flasks (100-mL working volume) filled with the AD effluent and the flowback water according to the loading ratios described in Table 1. All treatments were conducted in triplicates for a total of 36 reactors. Algal seed inoculum was added to each reactor at a fixed volume (10% v/v). The flasks were kept in an incubator (Innova® 43/43R incubator shaker, Eppendorf, Enfield, CT, USA) at a constant 22°C, at a rotational speed of 150 rpm. Because light intensity varied between 29 and 55 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ inside the incubator, the positions of the reactors were randomized daily.

Before sampling, DI water was added to adjust the volume of each reactor to the initial volume recorded on Day 0, therefore compensating for both water evaporation and sampling losses. A volume of 2-mL algae suspension was collected daily. The optical density (OD) of the sample was measured at 680 nm by transferring 200-µL aliquots, in triplicates, to a microplate (Costar[®], Corning, Corning, NY) which was measured by a

microplate reader (Eon[®] microplate spectrophotometer , Biotek, Winooski, VT, USA). The remaining sample was then centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 15 min (Centrifuge 5810 R, Eppendorf, Enfield, CT, USA). To minimize the influence of other media constituents on OD measurements, a blank of the media was created by removing 200-µL aliquots, in triplicates, from the supernatant. The OD of the supernatant aliquots was measured and then subtracted from the OD of the corresponding algal sample. Reactors were cultured for a period of 19 days to insure that stationary phase was reached by all treatment levels.

Table 1: Experimental design for evaluating microalgal growth in the flowback water supplemented with different loadings of the anaerobic digestion effluent.

Treatment	AD effluent loading (% v/v)	*NH₄-N (mg L ⁻¹)
1	2	75
2	4	103
3	6	132
4	10	190

* total of both the AD effluent and the flowback water

2.3.4. Cultivation of N. salina and D. tertiolecta using different nutrient and salinity sources

The most robust strains from the screening experiment, *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta*, were further evaluated in 2-L glass bottles (1-L working volume) with media composed of the flowback water supplemented with the 6% AD effluent. Commercials nutrients (Proline f/2 algae feed, Pentair Aquatic Eco-Systems, FL, USA) and commercial salts (Instant Ocean[®] sea salt, Spectrum Brands, Madison, WI, USA) were used to create modified commercial media as experimental controls. All treatments were

adjusted on Day 0 to similar inorganic nitrogen (~132 mg L^{-1} N), salinity (~42 g L^{-1}), and pH (~7.97) levels. Concentrated HCl or 10 M NaOH was used to adjust the pH of the controls to appropriate levels. Algal seed inoculum was added to each reactor at a fixed volume (10% v/v). Each treatment was performed in triplicates for a total of 12 reactors. A culture period of 14 days was chosen to insure growth transition of each culture into the stationary phase.

Each reactor was equipped with a rubber stopper and a 4.76 mm diameter stainless steel tube for air inlet/outlet. Reactors were placed in a white coated chamber in which constant illumination (200 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) was provided by 32-watt florescent lamps (GE Lighting, Ravenna, OH, USA). Air sparging, by the use of filter-sterilized (0.2 μ m Whatman PTFE Puradisc, GE Healthcare, Maidstone, UK) ambient air (0.039% CO₂) at an airflow rate of 650 mL min⁻¹, was used to continuously mix the cultures and provide CO₂.

Before sampling, DI water was used to compensate for evaporation and sampling losses as mentioned previously. The reactors were sampled every other day by removing a sample volume of 50-mL. Aliquots of 10-mL, in triplicates, were then used to determine the dry biomass content of the algal samples in terms of ash-free dry weight.

2.3.5. Microalgal lipid analysis

Samples for lipid analysis were collected by combining individual 1-L reactors from the end of the experiment described in Section 2.3.4 into 3-L volumes. Dewatering of *N. salina* was achieved by centrifugation (Sorvall RC 6+ centrifuge, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) at 10,000 rpm for 15 min. Because of the susceptibility of *D. tertiolecta* cells to break, flocculation was first performed by raising the pH of the media to 10.5 using additions of 10 M NaOH (Horiuchi et al., 2003). After flocculation, samples were decanted and centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 15 min. Lipid content of the microalgal biomass was then determined by a modified version of Folch's method (Folch et al., 1957). Approximately 7-mL of methanol was added to 1.0 g of the thickened biomass slurry. The cell suspension was then disrupted for 30 s with an ultrasonic processor (UP400S, Hielscher Ultrasonics, Teltow, Germany) and a titanium sonotrode with a 22 mm tip. The frequency was set at 24 KHz at a power output of 100 W. After an addition of 14-mL of chloroform, sonication was repeated. The final solvent ratio of 8:4:3 chloroform:methanol:water was achieved by adding 12-mL of chloroform-methanol (2:1, v/v) followed by 0.88% KCl solution. The mixture was then shaken for 10 min in a glass centrifuge tube and then centrifuged for 5 min at 1,000 g (Sorvall Legend T+ centrifuge, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The aqueous phase of the resulting biphasic solution was then removed with a pipette. The remaining organic phase was then filtered into a pre-weighed 100-mL round bottom flask using filter paper (Whatman No. 1 filter paper, GE Healthcare, Maidstone, UK). The filter and centrifuge tube were then washed with 20-mL of chloroform to remove residual lipids. The chloroform was then removed with a rotary evaporator (Laborota 4001, Heidolph Instruments, Schwabach, Germany) to recover the remaining crude lipids. The weight of the crude lipids was then recorded.

Transesterification of the crude lipids into FAMEs was conducted according to Li and Watkins (2001). Crude lipids were saponified with 0.5 N NaOH in methanol at 100°C for 5 min. The resulting liberated fatty acids (FAs) were methylated in 14% boron trifluoride in methanol at 100°C for 5 min. The resulting FAMEs were extracted with hexane and quantified by a gas chromatograph-mass spectrometer (GC-MS) (GCMS-QP2010 SE unit, Shimadzu, Columbia, MD, USA), equipped with a polar capillary column (ZebronTM ZB-FFAP, Phenomenex, Torrence, CA, USA). Helium was used as the mobile phase at a flow rate of 1 mL min⁻¹. The oven temperature was raised from 50°C to 190°C at a rate of 25°C min⁻¹, then to 220°C at a rate of 3°C min⁻¹ and held for 18 min. The injector, interface, and ion source temperatures were set at 250°C, 250°C, and 200°C, respectively. FAME samples of 1-µL each were injected with a split ratio of 50:1. The compounds were identified in the National Institute of Standards and Technology mass spectral database and quantified by comparing the peak area with 100 µg mL⁻¹ methyl heptadecanoate as an internal standard. The cetane number of total FAs was calculated using a multiple regression model developed by Piloto-Rodriquez et al (2013).

2.3.6. Chemical composition analysis of growth media

Macronutrients, such as inorganic nitrogen and inorganic phosphorus, and other ion constituents were analyzed using an ion chromatography (IC) (ICS-5000, Dionex[®], Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). All samples were filtered to remove particulates using a 0.2 µm syringe filter and diluted with DI water to appropriate detection limits. Additionally, the concentration of 11 elements (Al, Fe, Mn, Ni, Zn, Cu, As, Mo, Pb, Ni, and Cd) in the flowback water were measured using an inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) (7500cx, Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) following US EPA method 6062A (USEPA, 1986). Prior to ICP-MS analysis, the samples were digested in a microwave accelerated reaction system (CEM Corporations, Matthews, NC, USA) at 190°C for 10 minutes. The digested sample was diluted 50-fold with DI water and analyzed via ICP-MS. For concentrations of barium (Ba) and strontium (Sr), the flowback water samples were sent to Service Testing and Research Lab (STAR) (OSU/OARDC, Wooster, OH). These samples were analyzed by ICP-OES after nitric acid microwave digestion following Section 3120B (Eaton, 2000). Total dissolved solids (TDS) and pH were measured by a conductivity meter (EC300, YSI, Yellow Springs, OH, USA) and a pH meter (pH 11, Oakton Instruments, Vernon Hills, IL, USA), respectively.

2.3.7. Development of calibration curves for determining algal biomass concentration

A wavelength of 680 nm was chosen to minimize the influence of nonphotosynthetic solids found in the media on OD. The relationship between OD at 680 nm and algal dry biomass (g L^{-1} ash-free dry weight (AFDW)) was established for all three algal strains, and the derived correlation equations for use in the remainder of the study are shown below.

> N. salina $(g L^{-1}AFDW) = 0.3987 * OD_{680}$ D. tertiolecta $(g L^{-1}AFDW) = 0.9235 * OD_{680}$ D. salina $(g L^{-1}AFDW) = 0.9044 * OD_{680}$

The ash-free dry weight (AFDW) of the algal samples was determined and reported according to Zhu and Lee (1997). Aliquots of 10-mL, in triplicates, were filtered
in a cylindrical flask through a pre-combusted and pre-weighed filter using a vacuum that was dependent on the microalgal strain. For N. salina, 1.6 µm glass fiber filters with 45 mm diameter (Fisherbrand G6, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Madison, WI, USA) were used under a vacuum of 20 inHg. Because D. tertiolecta lack cell walls and are susceptible to cell breakage during filtering (Goldman and Dennett, 1985), 0.7 µm glass fiber filters with 45 mm diameter (Whatman GF/F, GE Healthcare, Maidstone, UK) were used under a vacuum of 5 inHg. After filtration of the algal sample, filters were washed with 20-mL of 0.5 M NH₄HCO₃ solution to remove residual salt and then dried in aluminum dishes in an oven (Thelco®, Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) for a minimum of 24 hours at 105°C. Samples were placed in a vacuum dessicator until cooled and then weighed for total suspended solids (TSS). The samples were then combusted at 550°C for 4 hours in a muffle furnace (Isotemp, Fisher Scientific, Dubuque, IA, USA) and then cooled in a vacuum desiccator and weighed. The AFDW was determined as the difference between TSS and the ash weight. See Appendix A for more details regarding the derivation of these equations as well as the selection process that resulted in the use of 680 nm.

2.3.8. Nonlinear regression and statistical analysis

Nonlinear regression analysis of the experimental data was performed to reduce human error involved in estimating the algal specific growth rate using conventional methods (Paine et al., 2012; Rees et al., 2010). A three-parameter logistic model was chosen as it provided adequate fit for most of the experimental data (R^2 =0.97-0.99). Specifically, the Fit Curve personality was used with the three-parameter logistic model (Logistic 3P) in JMP 10.0.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA), defined in the equation below.

Biomass concentration
$$(g L^{-1}) = m(t) = \frac{c}{1 + e^{-k*(t-b)}}$$

Where:

 $k = \text{specific growth rate } (\text{day}^{-1})$

- b =inflection point (days)
- $c = asymptote (g L^{-1})$

t = time (day)

The asymptote of the logistic function corresponds to the maximum theoretical biomass in the above equation. The inflection point corresponds to the time (day) when growth rate is maximized. The average biomass productivity was calculated by multiplying the maximum observed biomass concentration by the estimated specific growth rate.

Model appropriateness was determined by residual analysis. Analysis of significance was determined by analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey HSD tests performed at a significance level of 0.05 using JMP 10.0.2 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA).

2.4. Results and Discussion

2.4.1. Chemical composition of shale gas flowback water and anaerobic digestion effluent

The results from the chemical composition analysis of the shale gas flowback water are shown in Table 2. Concentrations of chloride, total dissolved solids (TDS), and bromide were found to be comparable to Marcellus shale flowback water concentrations reported by Abdalla et al. (2011). Additionally, the sodium, calcium, magnesium, barium, iron, and manganese concentrations were within the range of randomly sampled Marcellus shale flowback water samples reported by Paugh (2008). These comparisons to literature values indicated that the flowback water used in this study was a realistic representation of flowback water commonly produced by shale formations such as the Marcellus.

When compared to commercial sea salt (Table 3), the flowback water had higher concentrations of the many ions in common, with the exception of sulfate. If the flowback water was hypothetically used as a growth media for marine microalgae, many of the micronutrients, such as potassium, magnesium, calcium, and sodium, required to sustain growth would be met in excess (Becker, 1994). The salinity of the flowback water (~45 g L^{-1}), while slightly higher than standard preparations of commercial sea salt (~32 g L^{-1}), has been shown not to substantially impede marine microalgal growth and may positively impact lipid yields (Hu and Gao, 2006; Takagi et al., 2006). However, this flowback water would not be able to sustain significant microalgal growth alone as key

macronutrients, such as nitrogen and phosphorus, were at insignificant levels (Pittman et al., 2011).

The results from the chemical composition analysis of the AD effluent, the envisioned source of nutrients when used in conjunction with flowback water, is shown in Table 4. As noted by previous research, the major form of nitrogen in the AD effluent was ammonium (Cai et al., 2013c; Sheets et al., 2014). Because ammonium bypasses the redox reactions required to assimilate nitrate and nitrite by microalgae, ammonium is believed to be the preferred source of nitrogen for rapid growth (Cai et al., 2013b). Excluding the presence of organic forms of nitrogen and phosphorus, the nitrogen to phosphorus ratio (N/P) was calculated to be ~14:1. While the optimum universal N/P ratio is considered to be 16:1 (Redfield, 1934), it has been shown that the optimal N/P ratio and can vary from 8.2 to 45, depending on ecological conditions (Klausmeier et al., 2004). Many popular growth media have N/P ratios greater than 16 (Andersen, 2005),

Parameter	ррт		
Cl	23787.18 ± 1021		
Na	11455.30 ± 213		
Mg	3574.96 ± 386		
К	634.99 ± 12		
Са	471.77 ± 12		
Br	191.65 ± 15		
SO4	159.89 ± 3		
NH4-N	46.58 ± 0.66		
Li	20.90 ± 0.01		
²⁷ Al	17.58 ± 5		
⁵⁶ Fe	9.57 ± 0.05		
⁵⁵ Mn	1.39 ± 0.14		
PO4, NO2, NO3, F	< 10		
Parameter	ppb		
⁶⁰ Ni	102.38 ± 2		
⁶⁶ Zn	84.92 ± 94		
⁶³ Cu	83.45 ± 4		
⁷⁵ As	71.29 ± 45		
Ва	71.09		
⁹⁷ Mo	50.23±49		
²⁰⁶ Pb	44.46 ± 61		
⁵⁸ Ni	34.57 ± 3		
Sr	21.03		
¹¹¹ Cd	18.36 ± 25		
Property			
Salinity (g L ⁻¹)	45.4 ± 0.28		
Total dissolved solids (mg L ⁻¹)	41714.2 ± 1734		
рН	6.56 ± 0.22		

Table 2: Chemical composition of the shale gas flowback water.

*Bolded constituents represent macronutrients critical for microalgal growth.

Parameter	ppm		
Cl	10731.10 ± 200		
Na	6234.76 ± 323		
SO4	1977.98 ± 116		
К	1552.38 ± 43		
Mg	308.27 ± 34		
Са	145.26 ± 19		
Br	116.45 ± 84		
Li, NH4, NO3	< 10		
PO4, NO2, F			
Property			
Salinity (g L ⁻¹)	32		
Instant Ocean TM sea salt (40 g L^{-1})			

Table 3: Chemical composition of commercial sea salt.

Table 4: Chemical composition of the anaerobic digestion effluent.

Parameter	ppm	
NH4-N	1447.34 ± 46	
Cl	336.88 ± 49	
Na	129.95 ± 1	
PO4-P	105.77 ± 1	
Са	83.33 ± 2	
SO4	55.03 ± 3	
Mg	19.54 ± 4	
F, NO2, Br, NO3, Li, K	< 10	
Property		
Salinity (g L ⁻¹)	5.25 ± 0.07	
TDS (mg L ⁻¹)	9290.66 ± 54	
рН	8.6 ± 0.01	

* Bolded constituents represent macronutrients critical for microalgal growth.

2.4.2. Effect of anaerobic digestion effluent loadings on microalgal growth in flowback water

2.4.2.1. Microalgal growth curves

Growth curves of *D. salina*, *N. salina*, and *D. tertiolecta*, generated from the cultivation in the flowback water supplemented with the AD effluent loadings of 2% to 10%, are presented in Figures 1 and 2. Overall, *D. salina* (Figure 1) experienced poor growth at all loadings of the AD effluent in the flowback water. A 10-day lag phase was observed at the 4% AD effluent loading with no significant growth observed for either the AD effluent loadings of 6% or 10%. The highest biomass concentration observed was ~0.37 g L⁻¹ at the 4% AD effluent loading. Both *D. tertiolecta* and *N. salina* performed substantially better than *D. salina*. For *D. tertiolecta* (Figure 2a), a 2-day lag phase was observed at the 2% AD effluent loading while a 4-day lag phase was observed at the AD effluent loading. No lag phases were observed for *N. salina* at all studied effluent loadings. The highest biomass concentration observed for *D. tertiolecta* and *N. salina* at all studied effluent loadings. The highest biomass concentration observed at the AD effluent loading while a 4-day lag phase was observed at the AD effluent loading while a 4-day lag phase was observed at the AD effluent loading while a 4-day lag phase was observed at the AD effluent loading so f 4% to 10%. No lag phases were observed for *D. tertiolecta* and *N. salina* at all studied effluent loadings. The highest biomass concentration observed for *D. tertiolecta* and *N. salina* was 1.03 g L⁻¹ and 0.76 g L⁻¹, respectively, at the 10% AD effluent loading.

The poor performance of *D. salina* and the lag phases observed for *D. tertiolecta* may be attributed to changes in salinity and the presence of growth inhibitors, such as free-ammonia, in the AD effluent and flowback water media. While the ammonium (NH_4^+) in the AD effluent is generally considered nontoxic, the disassociation of the ammonium into free ammonia (NH₃) may inhibit microalgal growth (Azov and Goldman, 1982). Additionally, while *D. salina* has been reported to survive a wide range of salinity levels, the transfer of *D. salina* from a hypersaline seed culture medium to the flowback

water media may have contributed to the overall stress of the culture (Chen et al., 2011b; Chen and Jiang, 2009). Because of the poor growth of *D. salina* relative to the other microalgal strains used in this study, *D. salina* was not evaluated in further experiments.



Figure 1: Effect of anaerobic digestion effluent loadings on growth of *D. salina* in the flowback water.



Figure 2: Effect of anaerobic digestion effluent loadings on growth of (a) *D. tertiolecta* and (b) *N. salina* in the flowback water.

2.4.2.2. Effect of AD effluent loadings on microalgal specific growth rate and average biomass productivity

The specific growth rates (μ , day⁻¹), and the average biomass productivities (mg L^{-1} day⁻¹) for both strains at different AD effluent loadings in the flowback water are shown in Figure 3. The impact of the AD effluent loadings on both the specific growth rate and the average biomass productivity was found to be strain specific (p<0.05). Both *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* had the highest specific growth rate at the 2% AD effluent loading (0.29 and 0.28 day⁻¹, respectively) when compared to the AD effluent loadings of 6% and 10%. The specific growth rate of D. tertiolecta was observed to decline as the AD effluent loadings increased and the lowest specific growth rate (0.16 day^{-1}) was obtained at the 10% AD effluent loading. While the decline in the specific growth rate was observable for *N. salina* for the AD effluent loadings of 4% to 10%, the differences are not statistically significant (p>0.05). For D. tertiolecta, the highest and the lowest average biomass productivity (239 and 175 mg L^{-1} day⁻¹, respectively) occurred at the AD effluent loadings of 6% and 10%, respectively. The AD effluent loadings of 2% to 10% were found not to significantly affect the average biomass productivity of N. salina (p>0.05).

These results suggest that *N. salina* is less sensitive than *D. tertiolecta* to increases in the AD effluent loading on the two estimated parameters. This may indicate a different degree of tolerance to inhibitors, such as free-ammonia, that may be present in the AD effluent (Pittman et al., 2011).

The observation that both N. salina and D. tertiolecta attained the highest specific growth rate (0.29 and 0.28 day⁻¹, respectively) at the 2% AD effluent loading in the flowback water (\sim 74.6 mg L⁻¹ NH₄-N) is in contrast to previously published results for microalgae cultivation using AD effluent as a nutrient source. Cai (2013c) found that N. salina achieved the highest specific growth rate (0.645 day^{-1}) at a 6% municipal wastewater AD effluent loading, corresponding to 160 mg L^{-1} of total nitrogen. Similarly, Sheets et al. (2014) found that N. salina achieved the highest specific growth rate (0.327 dav^{-1}) at a 7% municipal wastewater AD effluent loading (200 mg L⁻¹ of total nitrogen). These different conclusions from increased AD effluent loadings may arise from the different methods used to calculate specific growth rate. Both previously mentioned literature estimates were calculated based on the ratio of biomass concentrations at the beginning and end of exponential phase. As the specific growth rate estimates in this study were calculated based on nonlinear regression analysis of the entire span of the experimental data, the estimates in this study may be more sensitive to factors effecting algal growth.

While factors, such as differences in cultivation conditions and the age of the algal seed inoculum (Lu et al., 2012; Lu et al., 2013), may also influence these observed differences to literature values, the use of the flowback water as the basis of the growth media may also be a factor. Pittman (2011) suggested that algal growth is likely lower in industrial wastewaters as high toxin concentrations may inhibit growth. For example, Buchanan (2012) recorded a lag phase between 7 and 9 times longer when algae was grown in coal seam gas brine in oppose to seawater. As algae are sensitive to toxic

pollutants, a combination of free-ammonia, organic pollutants, and unreported heavy metals in the AD effluent and flowback water media may contribute to the observed decline in specific growth rate for both algal species (Munoz and Guieysse, 2006).

Because of the need of algal biomass to perform lipid quantification experiments, the medium composed of the 6% AD effluent loading in the flowback water was chosen for further analysis of both strains.



Figure 3: Effect of anaerobic digestion effluent loadings on (a) specific growth rate and (b) average biomass productivity for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* cultured in the flowback water.

2.4.3. Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal growth

The specific growth rates (μ , day⁻¹) and the average biomass productivities (mg L⁻¹ day⁻¹) for *D. tertiolecta* and *N. salina* grown in the media composed of the commercial nutrients and salts (control) or the 6% AD effluent loading in the flowback water can be seen in Figure 4. The results indicated that the media and the microalgal strain did not have a significant impact on the two analyzed parameters (p>0.05). As the main form of nitrogen in the commercial nutrients is nitrate, these results also suggested that both strains did not show observable preferences for either nitrate or ammonium at comparable inorganic nitrogen concentrations. While Chen (2011) observed a preference of nitrate over ammonium for cultures of *D. tertiolecta*, differences in the cultivation conditions may be responsible as concentrations of inhibitors, such as free-ammonia, are known to be effected by environmental parameters (Azov and Goldman, 1982).

In summary, *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* achieved the specific growth rates of 0.293 and 0.348 day⁻¹, respectively, in the medium composed of the flowback water supplemented with the 6% AD effluent. The average biomass productivities observed in this media were 225 and 275 mg L⁻¹ day⁻¹ for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta*, respectively. The specific growth rate and average biomass productivity for *N. salina* are comparable to the values reported by Sheets (2014) for *N. salina* grown in media composed of 7% municipal wastewater AD effluent. Specifically, the specific growth rate and the average biomass productivity were reported at 0.327 day⁻¹ and 204 mg L⁻¹ day⁻¹, respectively. The similar growth of each strain in both media suggests that inhibition caused by constituents in the AD effluent or the flowback water was not observed and that it is

feasible for the AD effluent and the flowback water to replace the commercial nutrients and salts at comparable inorganic nitrogen, salinity, and pH levels.



Figure 4: Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal (a) specific growth rate and (b) average biomass productivity. Media evaluated included commercial nutrients and salts (f/2+CS) and 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water (6% AD+FW).

2.4.4. Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal lipid production

A summary of the results from the lipid content and profile analysis of *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* grown in the media composed of either the flowback water supplemented with the 6% AD effluent or the commercial nutrients and salts (control) is shown in Table 5. The lipid content and total fatty acids of *N. salina* grown in the medium composed of the flowback water supplemented with the 6% AD effluent were comparable to the control (p>0.05). Additionally, the amount of saturated fatty acids decreased by ~12.6% while the amount of unsaturated fatty acids increased by ~8.8% when compared to the control. In particular, the saturated fatty acid C16:0 decreased by 17.5% while unsaturated fatty acids like C16:1, C18.1 and C20:5 increased by 10.1%, 16.2%, and 34.3%, respectively. Overall, the changes in fatty acids were minor as the cetane number (CN) for *N. salina* grown in the flowback water supplemented with the 6% AD effluent decreased by only 1.84% when compared to the control. The CN is an indicator of the potential fuel quality of the microalgal-derived biodiesel as a higher CN implies easier ignition and lower nitrous oxide emissions (Cai et al., 2013a).

Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5) is a particularly valuable fatty acid often used as a human health supplement (Camacho-Rodríguez et al., 2014). While the observed increase in EPA is significant, the total amount (~16.9% of TFA) is comparable to the value reported by Cai et al.(2013c) for *N. salina* grown in municipal AD effluent (15.7% of TFA) and less than the value reported by Sheets et al. (2014) for *N. salina* grown in municipal AD effluent under high illumination (25.7% of TFA). While the minor increase of 13.4% in the lipid content was observed for *D*. *tertiolecta* cultivated in the medium composed of the flowback water supplemented with the 6% AD effluent, no other parameter in regards to the lipid profile was found to be significantly different from the control (p>0.05). As the reported lipid contents of both *N*. *salina* and *D. tertiolecta* were obtained near the end of exponential phase, there is a potential that the lipid content can be increased by nutrient starvation, salt stress, or other environmental parameters (Chen, 2011; Xin, 2010).

	N. salina		D. tertiolecta		
	f/2+CS	6% AD+FW	f/2+CS	6% AD+FW	
Lipid Content (g g ⁻¹ TVS)	0.302± .029	0.308 ± 0.022	0.120 ± 0.002	0.135± 0.003	
Total Fatty Acids (TFAs) (g g ⁻¹ lipids)	0.899 ± 0.030	0.767 ± 0.114	0.470 ± 0.020	0.532 ± 0.029	
Total Saturated FAs (g g ⁻¹ TFAs)	0.414 ± 0.005	0.362 ± 0.004	0.330 ± 0.014	0.341 ± 0.023	
Total Unsaturated FA's (g g ⁻¹ TFAs)	0.586 ± 0.005	0.638 ± 0.004	0.670 ± 0.014	0.659 ± 0.023	
FAME Constituent (% of TFAs)					
C 14:0 C 14:1	4.81 ± 0.24	6.34 ± 0.21	2.35 ± 0.39 0.43 ± 0.04	2.91 ± 1.05 0.22 ± 0.38	
C 16:0 C 16:1 C 18:0	33.42 ± 0.25 23.78 ± 0.89 3.17 ± 0.50	27.55 ± 0.31 26.17 ± 0.96 2.25 ± 0.46	26.31 ± 0.07 2.39 ± 0.18 4.29 ± 0.94	27.21 ± 0.20 2.90 ± 0.63 4.02 ± 1.10	
C 18:1 C 18:1t C 18:2	13.14 ± 0.26 2.01 ± 0.23 2.45 ± 0.10	15.27 ± 0.20 1.55 ± 0.24 1.24 ± 0.05	9.62 ± 0.63 4.69 ± 0.21 8.22 ± 0.25	7.92 ± 1.59 6.37 ± 0.25 0.22 ± 0.64	
C 18:2 C 18:3 C 20:0	0.15 ± 0.27	1.34 ± 0.05	41.60 ± 2.11	39.21 ± 4.17	
C 20:2 C 20:4 C 20:3	4.36 ± 0.12	2.65 ± 0.12			
C 20:5 EPA	12.55 ± 0.12	16.87 ± 0.03			
Cetane Number	58.39 ± 0.13	57.32 ± 0.08	45.93 ± 0.93	46.50 ± 1.68	

Table 5: Effect of nutrient and salinity sources on microalgal lipid content and profile.

f/2+CS = commercial nutrients and salts, 6% AD+FW = 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water

2.5. Conclusions

The use of the shale gas flowback water, as the source of water, and the AD effluent, as the source of nutrients, for the cultivation of marine microalgae is feasible for certain microalgal strains. While *D. salina* experienced poor growth, *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* both achieved growth comparable to cultivation in commercial nutrients and salts when the starting nitrogen, salinity, and pH levels were controlled. The lipid content and profile of both strains when grown in the medium composed of the flowback water and AD effluent were also comparable to yields obtained with commercial media and salts. These results suggested that comparable growth and lipids with similar profiles could be achieved by replacing the modified commercial medium with the flowback water and AD effluent medium for marine microalgae cultivation.

Chapter 3: Effects of Chemicals and Microbial Communities in Anaerobic Digestion Effluent and Shale Gas Flowback Water on Algal Growth and Sedimentation

Abstract

The ability to examine the influence of the microbial community of the medium composed of the flowback water and AD effluent was complicated by observed losses in ammonia after autoclaving. It was speculated that the volatilized ammonia was in the form of free-ammonia and that the differences in ionic strength between the evaluated media resulted in a different degree of free-ammonia toxicity experienced by both strains. In the case of *D. tertiolecta*, a strain of microalgae that is relatively sensitive to free-ammonia, higher biomass productivities were achieved in the flowback water compared to commercial salts. As this was not observed previously, differences in the cultivation conditions may also affect the severity of ammonia-toxicity. Further research is suggested to explore the impact of the ionic strength of the flowback water on algal growth inhibition.

3.1. Introduction

Microalgae-bacteria associations have commonly been found in ecosystems consisting of high microalgal production (Cole, 1982; Fouilland, 2012). Symbiotic relationships have been observed to occur when heterotrophic bacteria support the growth of algae by providing CO₂, vitamins, re-mineralized nutrients, and other growth dependent compounds (Gonzalez and Bashan, 2000; Grossart and Simon, 2007). Microalgae, in return, have been observed to increase the growth of bacteria by providing O₂ and dissolved organic carbon (Cole, 1982; Fouilland, 2012; Grossart and Simon, 2007). Despite the association of bacteria with algae in nature, applications of algalbacterial relationships to biotechnology are relatively rare.

Algal-bacterial relationships may be able to improve the overall economics of microalgal biofuels. While current methods, such as nutrient depletion, attempt to increase microalgal lipid accumulation through stress, overall increases in lipid yields are minimal as algal growth is concurrently reduced (Mata et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2011). Certain bacterial strains, however, have been observed to increase both the growth and lipid content of microalgae simultaneously (de-Bashan et al., 2002). Additionally, bacteria have been observed to produce extracellular polymeric substances that promote flocculation of microalgae (Lee et al., 2009). The flocculation of microalgae by bacteria may reduce substantial costs involved in the harvesting and dewatering of microalgae after cultivation (Uduman et al., 2010).

Microbial communities have been found in both shale gas flowback water and anaerobic digestion (AD) effluent (Chouari et al., 2005; Struchtemeyer and Elshahed, 2012). Because of the diverse populations of microbes found in both wastewaters, it is currently uncertain the degree to which algal-bacterial interactions are occurring. While there are many potential benefits to an algal-bacterial consortium, negative interactions cannot be overlooked. Bacteria may compete for limited nutrients and produce algicidal extracellular metabolites (Doucette, 1995; Fukami et al., 1997; Grossart and Simon, 2007). In this case, the chemicals and salts present in the shale gas flowback water may act as natural buffers and prevent biological contamination. The use of seawater has been similarly used in the past to provide an osmotic barrier to invasive competitors such as herbivorous zooplankton, fungi, and lytic bacteria (Benemann and Oswald, 1996; Vasseur et al., 2012).

The objective of this chapter was to evaluate the effects of chemicals and microbial communities present in both the AD effluent and the shale gas flowback water on algal growth and sedimentation. To address this objective, two specific aims were studied: 1) cultivation of *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media and 2) sedimentation kinetics analysis of *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* in autoclaved and non-autoclaved and non-autoclaved media. Autoclaving was chosen as the method to sterilize and thus minimize the influence of viable microbes found in the media. It was anticipated that a comparison to non-autoclaved media, as a result, would allow observations to be made on the impact of viable microbes on microalgae growth and sedimentation. A batch study was performed in which *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* were grown in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media composed of either wastewater-derived or commercially-derived nitrogen and salinity sources. A novel method to measure sedimentation kinetics using

the kinetic analysis feature of a microplate reader was also proposed and applied in the hopes of determining the existence of bioflocculant-producing bacteria which may increase the sedimentation rate of microalgae cultures.

3.2. Literature Review

3.2.1. Growth-promoting bacteria

A bacterium previously studied for its ability to promote microalgal growth and lipid production is *Azospirillum brasilense*. Also known as the plant-growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB), *A. brasilense* has been observed to produce plant hormones which effect plant growth by interfering with the hormonal metabolism of the host plant (Gonzalez and Bashan, 2000; Patten and Glick, 1996). The first study of the effects of *A. brasilense* on microalgae was conducted by Gonzalez and Bashan (2000) who coimmobilized *Chlorella vulgaris* and *A. brasilense* in alginate beads. A significant promotion of *C. vulgaris* growth was observed within 1 day of inoculation which continued for 6 days. Both the total number of algal cells and the pigment concentrations were observed to significantly increase. Gonzalez and Bashan (2000) concluded that the mechanism behind PGPB's effect on terrestrial plants may be similar to its effects on microalgae such as *C. vulgari*. Particularly, the production of phytohormones by PGPB may potentially stimulate microalgal growth (Bajguz and Czerpak, 1996; Gonzalez and Bashan, 2000).

Additionally, de-Bashan et al. (2002) analyzed the lipid and pigment content of *C. vulgaris* and *C. sorokiniana* co-immobilized with *A. brasilense*. After a 10 day study, Bashan et al. (2002) reported significant increases in microalgal cell sizes. Lipid content in all algal strains were also reported to increase with the number of different fatty acids increasing from four to eight. The accumulation of lipids, however, was determined by Bashan et al. (2002) not to be stress-induced as microalgal populations were also

observed to increase. The ability to increase both algal biomass and lipid content simultaneously is significant as previous attempts at lipid accumulation have focused on nutrient depletion, which happens when growth rate is reduced and microalgal stress is increased (Mata et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2011). As a result, finding and utilizing growthpromoting bacteria, such as *A. brasilense*, may be critical for the economics of commercial microalgae cultivation as the current trade-offs between microalgal growth rate and lipid content can be avoided. By comparing microalgal growth in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media, an additional aim of this chapter was to determine the possible presence and influence of growth-promoting bacteria in either the AD effluent or the flowback water.

3.2.2. Bioflocculant-producing microbes

The dilute nature of microalgal cultures makes the harvesting and dewatering step operationally costly as substantial energy inputs are required to concentrate microalgal biomass. Major techniques currently employed include centrifugation, flocculation, filtration and screening, gravity sedimentation, flotation, and electrophoresis techniques (Chen et al., 2011a; Uduman et al., 2010). Despite the large number of techniques, most are considered too costly and energy intensive for the primary harvesting of microalgae. Flocculation is considered a superior method because it can treat large quantities of microalgal cultures and can be applied to a wide range of species (Uduman et al., 2010). Inorganic chemical flocculants, such as alum and ferric chloride, however, are considered too expensive for large scale operations (Schenk et al., 2008).

Technologies based on microbial flocculants may circumnavigate these current problems. Oh et al. (2001) conducted a study in which flocculent-producing bacteria were isolated from soil samples. Out of the 100 bacterial strains isolated, strain AM49 (Paenibacillus spp.) was determined to have the highest flocculation activity when cocultured with the C. vulgaris. The flocculent efficiency of 83% was observed which was higher than the flocculent efficiencies of either aluminum sulfate (72%) or polyacrylamide (78%). Similar promising results were also obtained from Lee et al. (2009). Lee et al. (2009) conducted a study in which atmospheric bacteria (*Pseudomonas* stutzeri and Bacillus cereus) were allowed to naturally inoculate 1-L culture flasks where *Pleurochrysis carterae* was the only form of organic carbon present. By doing so, Lee et al. (2009) was able to select microbes which were able to coexist with the alga P. cartera. Results from this experiment showed that stress, as a result of nutrient depletion, caused the microbes to produce extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) that promoted flocculation of the algae. The average recovery efficiency of the microalgae was over 90%. Furthermore, microalgal cells were not damaged, retained their integrity, and followed predicable flocculation/settling behavior.

These promising results indicate that microbial bioflocculation of microalgae may prove to be an energy efficient, low cost, and safe commercial harvesting method. By comparing microalgal sedimentation kinetics in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media, an additional aim of this chapter was to determine the possible presence and influence of bioflocculant-producing microbes in either the AD effluent or the flowback water.

3.2.3. Microbial communities in shale gas flowback water and anaerobic digestion effluent

Bacteria are known to survive not only the thermodynamically harsh conditions during hydraulic fracturing injection, but also survive the chemically complex, saline fracturing wastewater. Bacterial growth and, as a result, microbiologically influenced corrosion has become such a significant problem to shale gas exploration that biocides have been added to fracturing fluids (Fichter et al., 2008; Struchtemeyer et al., 2012). Even with the addition of biocides, however, bacteria have been known to persist. Struchtemeyer and Elshahed (2012) reported that sequences affiliated with the phylum *Firmicutes* dominated fracturing wastewater samples from two wells located in the Barnett Shale formation in North Central Texas (USA). While many of the reported families, such as *Bacillaceae* and *Clostridiaceae*, contained spore-forming genera that have known resistance to biocides, sulfide-producing bacteria, halophilic bacteria, and non-spore forming thermophiles were also reported. Davis et al. (2012) similarly analyzed two wells located in the Barnett Shale formation in North Central Texas (USA) and found the predominance of halophilic bacteria. The observed lineages contained a variety of metabolic and physiological capabilities which included chemolithoautotrophs, aerobic heterotrophs, anaerobic fermenters, and anaerobic respiratory sulfate reducers. Completely distinct microbial communities were reported in both studies when compared to the source water used for hydraulic fracturing.

Anaerobic digestion sludge and effluent is even more so characterized by having a diverse and complex microbial community. 16S rRNA gene clones have been retrieved

from various prokaryotic taxa such as Proteobacteria, Chloroflexi, Firmicutes,

Spirochaetes, and *Bacteroidetes* (Narihiro and Sekiguchi, 2007). Additionally, uncultured bacterial phyla (WWE1) in abundance of 12% of the total bacteria on the basis of rRNA have also been reported in digestion sludge of a municipal wastewater treatment plant (Chouari et al., 2005) . The first obligate syntrophic propionate-oxidizing anaerobe was also purported to be cultured from an aerobic sludge bed reactor treating sugar beet wastewater (de Bok et al., 2005). With the existence of such a large and diverse microbial community, some researchers involved in the use of AD effluent as a nutrient source for algal cultivation have pretreated the effluent using methods such as filtration and autoclaving to reduce the potential for contamination (Park et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010). In this study, autoclaving was chosen as the method to evaluate the influence of microbial contaminates on microalgae growth.

3.2.4. Current methods to measure microalgal sedimentation kinetics

Because of the possibility of observing microalgae flocculation as a result of microbial or chemical interactions, a method to measure sedimentation kinetics was pursued in this study. Conventional methods to measure algae sedimentation involve the use of jars (Vandamme et al., 2010) or cylindrical glass tubes (Papazi et al., 2010). Algal suspensions are placed in these containers and measurements using OD are used to assess the microalgal removal percentage using the below equation (Salim et al., 2011):

$$recovery (\%) = \frac{OD_{t_0} - OD_t}{OD_{t_0}} * 100$$

Where:

 $OD_{t_0} = OD$ of algal suspension at time zero $OD_t = OD$ at half the height of the clarified layer at time t

Similarly to how Salim et al. (2011) adapted this method for use with cuvettes, it was postulated in this study that the method could be applied to 96-well microplates. Microplate readers with kinetic analysis have been used previously in endotoxin quantification assays, biological activity studies, and molecular biology assays for the quick and reliable analysis of a large number of samples (Lourenco, 2011). Because software is used to control when measurements are taken, using a microplate reader also has the benefit of removing the need to monitor the sample.

3.3.1. Cultivation of N. salina and D. tertiolecta in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media

N. salina and *D. tertiolecta* were cultured in 250-mL Erlenmeyer flasks (100-mL working volume) filled with media according loading ratios described in Table 6. All treatments were conducted in triplicates for a total of 36 reactors. Algal seed inoculum was added to each reactor at a fixed volume (10% v/v). Cultivation conditions were similarly described in Section 2.3.3. The reactors were sampled every other day for a period of 18 days using methods described previously in Section 2.3.3. The OD of the samples were measured with a microplate reader at 680 nm by transferring 200- μ L aliquots, in triplicates, to a microplate.

To test the influence of nutrient and salinity source, commercials nutrients (Proline f/2 algae feed, Pentair Aquatic Eco-Systems, FL, USA) and commercial salts (Instant Ocean[®] sea salt, Spectrum Brands, Madison, WI, USA) were used as experimental controls. Because the factor of interest with using commercial salts was to test the influence of the salt/chemical constituents in the flowback water, the ammonium content of the flowback water (~47 mg L⁻¹ NH₄) was accounted for by adding NH₄Cl to commercial salts at equivalent amounts. Because a significant amount of ammonium was volatilized and lost during autoclaving of the AD effluent, NH₄Cl was added to the autoclaved AD effluent to match the non-autoclaved samples. In effect, the total inorganic nitrogen of the AD effluent and the flowback water was matched separately

using commercial nutrients and commercial salts, supplementing with NH₄Cl as appropriate.

Autoclaving at 121°C for 15 min was chosen as the method to sterilize and thus minimize the influence of viable microbes found in the media. It was anticipated that a comparison to the non-autoclaved media, as a result, would allow observations to be made on the impact of viable microbes on microalgal growth and sedimentation. To avoid the formation of precipitates while autoclaving, samples of the AD effluent and the flowback water were autoclaved separately and then combined afterwards. The pH of the media after autoclaving was adjusted to 7.97, as described in Section 2.3.4, using concentrated HCl or 0.2 μ m filtered 10 M NaOH to minimize possible microbial contamination. All media preparations and inoculations were performed in a biosafety cabinet. In summary, all media preparations were adjusted on Day 0 to similar inorganic nitrogen (~132 mg L⁻¹ N), salinity (~42 g L⁻¹), and pH (~7.97) levels.

Table 6: Experimental design for evaluating the effects of chemicals and mic	robial
communities in the anaerobic digestion effluent and the shale gas flowback w	ater on
algal growth and sedimentation.	

	Nutrient	Salinity	Sterilization			
Treatment	Source	Source	Factor	NH4-N (mg L^{-1})	NO3-N (mg L ⁻¹)	Total N (mg L^{-1})
1	6% AD	FW	Autoclaved	132		132
2	6% AD	FW	Non-autoclaved	132		132
3	6% AD	CS	Autoclaved	132		132
4	6% AD	CS	Non-autoclaved	132		132
5	f/2	FW	Autoclaved	47	85	132
6	f/2	FW	Non-autoclaved	47	85	132

CS = commercial salts, FW = flowback water, 6% AD = 6% anaerobic digestion effluent, f/2 = commercial nutrients

3.3.2. Evaluation of a microplate-based method to measure sedimentation kinetics

To test the capability of a microplate reader to analyze the sedimentation kinetics of microalgae, microalgal seed cultures of *N. salina*, *D. tertiolecta*, *D. salina*, and *T. suecica* in exponential phase were transferred to a 96-well microplate in 200 μ L aliquots, in triplicates. *T. suecica* was particularly chosen for this analysis as it is a known microalga capable of auto-flocculating (Salim et al., 2011). A 2% (v/v) sodium azide solution at different loadings (2, 5, 10, and 20 μ L) was used as a positive control for sedimentation as sodium azide is a known toxin for microalgae (Keilin, 1936). The 2% sodium azide solutions were directly added to the well with a pipette. The sedimentation kinetics of microalgae samples without sodium azide additions were also analyzed. Using the kinetic analysis function of the microplate reader (Eon[®] microplate spectrophotometer, Biotek, Winooski, VT, USA), wells were monitored at 680 nm every 30 min for a total of 12 hrs. Percent change in OD at 680 nm was calculated based on the following equation:

%Change in
$$OD_{680 nm} = \frac{OD_t - OD_{t_0}}{OD_{t_0}} * 100$$

Where:

 $OD_t = OD$ at time t $OD_{t_0} = initial OD$

3.3.3. Analysis of sedimentation kinetics

Daily samples from the experiment described in Section 3.3.1 were analyzed by transferring 200 μ L aliquots, in triplicates, to a 96-well microplate. The % change in OD at 680 nm was analyzed using methods described in Section 3.3.2. As a control, the % change in OD was compared against microalgal cultures grown, in triplicates, in commercial nutrients and commercial salts (f/2+CS) at similar initial inorganic nitrogen (~132 mg L⁻¹ N) ,salinity (~42 g L⁻¹), and pH (~7.97) levels to the treatments mentioned in Table 7. Cultivation conditions and sampling procedures for the controls were similarly described in Section 3.3.1.

3.4. Results and Discussion

3.4.1. Cultivation of N. salina and D. tertiolecta in autoclaved and non-autoclaved media

<u>3.4.1.1. Specific growth rate</u>

A comparison of the specific growth rates for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* grown in the autoclaved and non-autoclaved media are shown in Figure 5. Autoclaving was found to be a significant factor (p<0.05) and resulted in a 14.9% and a 68.8% increase in the specific growth rate for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta*, respectively. The nutrient and salinity source also had a significant interaction with autoclaving with the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts and the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water having 58.9% and 18.9% higher specific growth rates than the nonautoclaved counterparts (p<0.05). No significant differences were observed in the specific growth rates attained in the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts or the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water (p>0.05).

The differences between the autoclaved and non-autoclaved media for both strains may be a result of free-ammonia inhibition and not because of anticipated differences in microbial activity. A key observation that suggested a possible effect of ammonia is that a significant amount of ammonium was lost (~39%) after autoclaving the AD effluent. Park et al. (2010) also autoclaved AD effluent and observed very little changes in the ammonium concentrations and speculated that significant volatilization of the ammonia would occur if the primary form of ammonia was free-ammonia. Because the ammonia losses were minimal, Park et al. (2010) hypothesized that the ammonia content was primarily in the form of ammonium ions stabilized by constituents in the effluent.

Based on these observations, this may suggest that the main form of ammonia in the non-autoclaved AD effluent was free-ammonia, which was primarily lost after autoclaving. This is consistent with both the results in Section 2.4.2 in which a significant decrease in the specific growth rate was observed for *D. tertiolecta* at higher loadings of the AD effluent and previous research which suggests that D. tertiolecta is sensitive to the concentration of free-ammonia (Azov and Goldman, 1982; Chen, 2011). Because the ammonium lost was replaced with NH₄Cl in this study, an ion form that would have been stabilized by constituents in the medium, free-ammonia toxicity would not have been as apparent in the media with the autoclaved AD effluent. This is consistent with the observed difference in the specific growth rate for *D. tertiolecta* between the autoclaved and non-autoclaved media containing the AD effluent (Figure 5b). Because a smaller difference in the specific growth rate was observed for *N. salina* between the autoclaved and non-autoclaved media containing the AD effluent, these results also suggest that N. salina is less affected by the free-ammonia concentration in the medium. Again, this is also supported in Section 2.4.2 as only a gradual decline in the specific growth rate for N. salina was observed at higher AD effluent loadings.

The magnitude of the difference between the autoclaved and non-autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts and the autoclaved and non-autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water further suggests that the ability to ionize free-ammonia into its stable form, ammonium, is also dependent on the constituents in the
medium. This is supported by literature which indicates that saline waters reduce the apparent toxicity of free-ammonia as ion concentrations increase the electrostatic forces among ions and molecules to an extent that free-ammonia ionizes into ammonium. Additionally, the extent of the electrostatic forces is affected by both the concentration and charge of ions in solution (Soderberg and Meade, 1991).

As can be seen in Table 2 and 3, the flowback water contained higher concentrations of ions, such as Na⁺, and multivalent ions, such as Mg^{2+} , when compared to standard preparations of commercial salts. As mentioned above, the differences in the specific growth rates between the autoclaved and non-autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts is higher than the differences obtained from the autoclaved and nonautoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water. This is consistent with the belief that the lower ionic strength of commercial salts is resulting in a higher concentration of free-ammonia in the non-autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts than the non-autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water. As *D. tertiolecta* is more sensitive to free-ammonia, this may explain the pronounced difference between the specific growth rates observed for both strains from cultivation in the autoclaved and non-autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts.

While an explanation based on free-ammonia is feasible considering previous experimental results, changes in microbial activity after autoclaving may be also be having an effect. Previous research has noted that the significant population of bacteria in AD effluent may cause contamination to algae production systems if left untreated (Cai et al., 2013b; Wang et al., 2010). Bacteria may compete for limited nutrients or produce algicidal extracellular metabolites (Doucette, 1995; Fukami et al., 1997; Grossart and Simon, 2007). As the increase in specific growth rate for *N. salina* in the autoclaved media was to a lesser extent than *D. tertiolecta*, this would indicate that an explanation based on bacterial-interactions is strain specific, complicating the viability of this explanation.



Figure 5: Effect of autoclaving media on specific growth rate of (a) *N. salina* and (b) *D. tertiolecta*. Media evaluated included 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water (6% AD+FW), 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in commercial salts (6% AD+CS), and commercial nutrients in the flowback water (f/2+FW).

3.4.1.2. Average biomass productivity

The average biomass productivities for both strains cultivated in the various media are summarized in Figure 6. The effect of autoclaving was found to be significant and an increase of 64% was observed in the average biomass productivity for *D*. *tertiolecta* in the autoclaved media (p<0.05). In contrast, autoclaving did not have a significant effect on the average biomass productivity for *N*. *salina* (p>0.05). Additionally for *D*. *tertiolecta*, the autoclaving media with the 6% AD effluent loading resulted in a 39.1% increase in the average biomass productivity compared to the non-autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading and the autoclaved and non-autoclaved commercial nutrients. In regards to the salinity source, *D*. *tertiolecta* achieved an average biomass productivity 40.3% higher in the flowback water when compared to commercial salts. The salinity source had no significant impact on *N*. *salina* in regards to biomass productivity (p>0.05).

These differences, as mentioned previously in Section 3.4.1.1, may be explained by the removal of free-ammonia by autoclaving and the replacement of free-ammonia with NH₄Cl. The preference of *D. tertiolecta* for the flowback water may also indicate that high ion concentrations in the flowback water may be stabilizing the ammonium ions, preventing free-ammonia from accumulating to inhibitory levels (Soderberg and Meade, 1991). A possible explanation why this preference for the flowback water over commercial salts was not observed in Section 2.4.3 for *D. tertiolecta* is the difference in cultivation conditions. In this experiment, the algae were rotated on a shaker at 150 rpms, while the experiment in Section 2.4.3 was air sparged. Because air sparging results in a significant formation of aerosols, it is possible that the free-ammonia in the 1-L cultures was volatilized through ammonia stripping (Liao et al., 1995). This explanation is also supported by the screening experiment conducted in Section 2.4.2 in which rotation at 150 rpms was also utilized and the appearance of an initial lag phase for *D. tertiolecta* in the AD effluent and flowback water media was observed, indicating possible free-ammonia inhibition. This may suggest that the flowback water with comparable loadings of ammonium to commercial salts may be able to improve the growth performance of microalgae sensitive to free-ammonia because of the inherently higher ionic strength.

Overall, the highest average biomass productivities observed were 162 and 203 mg L⁻¹ day⁻¹ for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta*, respectively, in the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water. In contrast, the highest specific growth rates observed were 0.332 and 0.238 day⁻¹ for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta*, respectively, in the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts. Because of the significant interference of autoclaving on the ammonium concentrations, the degree to which the inherent microbial activity of the flowback water and the AD effluent is effecting the microalgal growth remains uncertain.



Figure 6: Effect of autoclaving media on average biomass productivity of (a) *N. salina* and (b) *D. tertiolecta*. Media evaluated included 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water (6% AD+FW), 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in commercial salts (6% AD+CS), and commercial nutrients in the flowback water (f/2+FW).

3.4.2. Sedimentation kinetics of N. salina and D. tertiolecta in autoclaved and nonautoclaved media

3.4.2.1. Evaluation of a microplate-based method to measure sedimentation kinetics

Results from the preliminary sedimentation experiment are shown in Figure 7. Each strain without the addition of sodium azide was observed to have a unique curve that developed as a result of a change in OD at 680 nm over time. While T. suecica is a known microalga capable of auto-flocculating (Salim et al., 2011), the % change in OD at 680 nm did not suggest that flocculating or settling was occurring under the given conditions. The appearance of a logistic curve for N. salina, however, suggested that settling was occurring naturally. A possible explanation for this settling is the inherent lack of motility for N. salina cells compared to the other tested algal strains. Previous research has shown that actively photosynthesizing microalgal cells with high metabolism rates and unicellular mobility are naturally resistant to settling. Called the net electronegative zeta shielding effect, active algal cells are stabilized by the presence of charged carboxylic and amine groups on the cell surface (Danquah et al., 2009; Vandamme et al., 2013). However when microalgal cells have a low metabolic rate, such as when the cells are at a period of low growth or are exposed to darkness, the net electronegative zeta shielding effect is reduced, causing cells to agglomerate and settle (Danquah et al., 2009). The lack of natural motility for N. salina combined with the exposure to dark conditions inside the microplate reader may have reduced the net electronegative zeta shielding effect to a point that settling was observed.

Upon addition of 2% sodium azide, a known algal toxin, the % change in OD increased for all microalgal strains except *N. salina*. The addition of sodium azide for the motile strains is most likely resulting in the death of the microalgal cells, causing charge-stabilizing metabolic processes to cease and for the cells to begin settling. The observable difference between the % change in OD after sodium azide addition suggested that settling of microalgal cells may be observable by a microplate reader under kinetic analysis.



Figure 7: Microplate-based sedimentation kinetics of marine microalgae under different loadings of 2% sodium azide. Microalgal strains evaluated included *D. salina* (DS), *D. tertiolecta* (DT), *N. salina* (NS), and *T. suecica* (TS).

3.4.2.2. Sedimentation kinetics of N. salina and D. tertiolecta

Experimental results from the sedimentation kinetics of *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* grown in the autoclaved and non-autoclaved media are shown in Figure 8 and 9. For *N. salina* (Figure 8), the % change in OD was apparent for all media on Day 0. Additionally, the % change in OD was significantly affected by the day of analysis (p<0.05). This is supported by previous research which observed that the settling characteristics of microalgae are dependent on the current growth phase (Salim et al., 2013). For example, Konno (1993) and Lavoie and de la (1987) observed that the settling velocity of *N. linearis* was faster in both the stationary and declining phase compared to the exponential phase. The largest % change in OD for *N. salina* observed in this study, however, occurred on Day 4 in the medium composed of the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts. Additionally, the highest % change in OD observed for the control occurred on Day 6-8. As researchers like Lavoie and de la Noue (1987) measured sedimentation based on the decreased transmittance of algal cells in a cuvette, it is currently uncertain if this indicates method, algal strain, or condition specific results.

Furthermore, the results indicated that the salinity and nutrient source were significant factors (p<0.05) and that *N. salina* had the highest and lowest % change in OD with the 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts and the commercial nutrients in flowback water, respectively. Because of the high amount of total dissolved solids in the flowback water, it is possible that the increased concentration of ions is aiding in the stabilization of the electrical charge of the algal cells (Vandamme et al., 2013).

For D. tertiolecta (Figure 9), substantial % changes in OD were observed on Day 2 and Day 6. These peaks occurred for the autoclaved media such as the 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water, the 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts, and the commercial nutrients in flowback water. Additionally, peaks were also observed for the non-autoclaved media such as the 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water and the commercial nutrients in flowback water. The media with the flowback water as the salinity source or the 6% AD effluent as the nutrient source were significantly higher than the commercial salts or the commercial nutrients (p<0.05). Autoclaving was also found to be significant on both nutrient and salinity sources for *D. tertiolecta*, with the autoclaved 6% AD effluent and the autoclaved flowback water having a significantly higher effect on % change in OD. The media that produced the highest means in regards to % change in OD were the autoclaved commercial nutrients in flowback water (32.9%), the nonautoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water (25.5%), and the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts (23.1%), which were 290%, 247%, and 233% higher than the control, respectively.

A possible explanation for the observed increase in sedimentation with the flowback water for *D. tertiolecta* is the high concentration of Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} ions found in the flowback water. Previous research indicated that a pH increase above 10.2 caused Mg^{2+} and Ca^{2+} ions to form hydroxide precipitates that caused algal cells to settle and flocculate (Folkman and Wachs, 1973; Smith and Davis, 2012). As shown in Table 7, none of the various media had a final pH > 9. Because pH was not monitored throughout the cultivation period, it is uncertain the degree to which pH is affecting sedimentation.

This explanation is also complicated by the fact that similar changes in OD were not observed for *N. salina* in the flowback water.

In support of these experimental results for *D. tertiolecta*, sedimentation was observed in Eppendorf centrifuge tubes during sampling for certain media, such as the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts and the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water. Significant sedimentation was not observed, however, for non-autoclaved counterparts. Sedimentation was also observed for *D. tertiolecta* in the previous media at the end of the culture period, contrasting the trend of decreasing % change in OD shown in Figure 9. It is uncertain whether the mechanics of settling for D. *tertiolecta* have changed so that sedimentation measurements via increasing changes in OD are no longer valid. This may indicate a limitation to using kinetic measurements in a microplate reader as a method to measure sedimentation via % change in OD as the sedimentation mechanics must result in increased light attenuation. Increased light attenuation might not occur if sedimentation is caused by the formation of loose flocs which might allow light to bypass the settled cells. The formation of loose flocs has been known to occur if flocculation is induced by extracellular polymeric substances, such as in the case of microbial-induced flocculation (Lee et al., 2009).

A significant finding was that the pH for *D. tertiolecta* in the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water and the autoclaved 6% AD effluent loading in commercial salts significantly decreased to a pH of 4.02 and 4.46 on Day 18, respectively. Cultures of *N. salina* in the autoclaved 6% AD in commercial salts were also observed to have a low pH of 5.21 on Day 18. Under normal cultivation conditions

of marine microalgae, the pH of the media rises as dissolved CO₂ is removed by photosynthesis (Chen, 1994). As can be seen in Table 7, most of the cultures of N. salina and D. tertiolecta had final pH values near or higher than the starting pH. It is currently uncertain what may be causing the acidification of the culture media. As flocculation of D. tertiolecta in the previously mentioned media was still observed first-hand in Eppendorf centrifuge tubes on Day 18, this observation is in oppose to previous research which indicates that a pH rise is necessary to flocculate marine microalgae (Besson and Guiraud, 2013; Horiuchi et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2012). Low pH has been observed to flocculate freshwater microalgae by causing organic matter adhering to microalgal cells to accept protons, causing instability and subsequent flocculation (Liu et al., 2013). Because this mechanism is independent of Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺ ions and more dependent on the presence of suspended organic matter, this might explain why the changes in OD for D. tertiolecta were observed highest in media composed of the AD effluent or the flowback water. Again, as this conflicts with the observations for *N. salina*, it is uncertain of the exact sedimentation mechanisms effecting N. salina and D. tertiolecta related to differences in autoclaving, nutrient source, and salinity source. Further research is necessary to determine the reproducibility and mechanics behind these unusual phenomenon and whether the observed increases in sedimentation can be observed on a larger scale.



Figure 8: Effect of autoclaving media on microplate-based sedimentation kinetics of *N. salina*. Media evaluated included 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water (6% AD+FW), 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in commercial salts (6% AD+CS), and commercial nutrients in the flowback water (f/2+FW). A medium composed of commercial nutrients and salts (f/2+CS) was used as a control. Autoclaved media are denoted by A_{-} .



Figure 9: Effect of autoclaving media on microplate-based sedimentation kinetics of *D. tertiolecta*. Media evaluated included 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water (6% AD+FW), 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in commercial salts (6% AD+CS), and commercial nutrients in the flowback water (f/2+FW). A medium composed of commercial nutrients and salts (f/2+CS) was used as a control. Autoclaved media are denoted by A_{-} .

Strain	Media	Day 0	Day 18
N. salina	6% AD+FW	7.65	8.25 ± 0.04
	A_6% AD+FW	7.62	7.10 ± 0.40
	6% AD+CS	7.61	6.60 ± 1.73
	A_6% AD+CS	7.63	5.21 ± 0.02
	f/2+FW	7.62	9.00 ± 0.08
	$A_f/2+FW$	7.63	9.00 ± 0.12
	f/2+CS	7.62	8.94 ± 0.21
D. tertiolecta	6% AD+FW	7.65	7.27 ± 0.06
	A_6% AD+FW	7.62	$\textbf{4.02} \pm \textbf{0.05}$
	6% AD+CS	7.61	6.71 ± 0.28
	A_6% AD+CS	7.63	4.46 ± 0.26
	f/2+FW	7.62	7.74 ± 0.07
	$A_f/2+FW$	7.63	7.76 ± 0.12
	f/2+CS	7.62	8.45 ± 0.06

Table 7: The pH of autoclaved and non-autoclaved media before and after algal cultivation.

Media evaluated included 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water (6% AD+FW), 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in commercial salts (6% AD+CS), and commercial nutrients in the flowback water (f/2+FW). A medium composed of commercial nutrients and salts (f/2+CS) was used as a control. Autoclaved media are denoted by A_{-} .

3.5. Conclusion

The impact of autoclaving various media was found to be strain specific. While these parameters did not have a major effect on N. salina in regards to the specific growth rate or the average biomass productivity, dramatic changes occurred with *D. tertiolecta* cultures. For example, autoclaving resulted in a 56.2% increase in the specific growth rate for *D. tertiolecta*. A most likely explanation for these differences is based on three main assumptions: 1) tolerance to free-ammonia toxicity is strain dependent, 2) autoclaving resulted in the loss of free-ammonia, 3) the higher ionic strength of the flowback water prevented ammonia dissociation into free-ammonia. If these assumptions prove to be true, it might indicate that the flowback water may be able to improve the growth of microalgae sensitive to free-ammonia concentrations compared to commercial salts at the same salinity. Future research is necessary to explore impact of the ionic strength of the flowback water on free-ammonia toxicity and possible microbial interactions with algal growth. Because of the inconsistencies in the results of the sedimentation kinetics between the two strains, is it difficult to conclude the extent of sedimentation and the mechanisms responsible. As a result, future research is also suggested to determine the reproducibility and mechanics behind the unusual sedimentation kinetics observed.

Chapter 4: Conclusions and Recommendations

Marine microalgae cultivation utilizing shale gas flowback water and AD effluent as sources of water and nutrients has yet been reported. The results from the initial evaluation of microalgae in various loadings of the AD effluent loading in the flowback water suggested that successful cultivation is highly dependent on the microalgal strain's ability to tolerate inhibitors found in the flowback water and the AD effluent. While *D*. *salina* experienced poor growth overall, *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* were able to tolerate the AD effluent loadings of 2% to 10% in the flowback water. The highest average biomass productivities for *D. tertiolecta* and *N. salina* were observed at the 6% AD effluent loading in the flowback water (132 NH₄-N mg L^{-1}).

N. salina and *D. tertiolecta* were then cultivated in the medium composed of the 6% AD effluent loading in the flowback water and compared to cultivation in a medium composed of commercial nutrients and salts at similar initial inorganic nitrogen (~132 mg L^{-1} N), salinity (~42 g L^{-1}), and pH (~7.97) levels. It was determined that there was no significant difference in the specific growth rates or the average biomass productivities obtained by cultivation in the different media. Further analysis of the lipid content and profile of both strains suggested that the medium had little effect on lipid productivity. The cetane number of the fatty acid methyl esters from *D. tertiolecta* was similar in both media while only a minor decrease of 1.84% was observed for *N. salina* grown in the flowback water supplemented with the 6% AD effluent. These results suggested that

comparable lipids with similar profiles could be achieved by using the AD effluent and the flowback water.

An evaluation of the effects of chemicals and microbial communities in the AD effluent and the shale gas flowback water on algal growth and sedimentation was also performed. Because of significant losses in the ammonium concentrations after autoclaving, the ability to examine the influence of the microbial community of the medium composed of the AD effluent and the flowback water was complicated. It was observed, however, that the ionic strength of the flowback water may have a significant impact on the ionization of ammonia. As commercial salts have a less concentration of ions, the ionic strength is lower and thus free-ammonia toxicity was believed to be more likely. In the case of *D. tertiolecta*, a strain of microalgae that is relatively sensitive to the concentration of free-ammonia, a higher biomass productivity was observed in the flowback water compared to the commercial salts. Because of inconsistencies in the observations regarding the sedimentation kinetics of N. salina and D. tertiolecta, it is currently unclear to what degree the flowback water and the AD effluent is affecting microalgae sedimentation and whether the developed microplate-based method has validity as an experimental tool.

Overall, the research conducted in this thesis suggests that cultivation of marine microalgae in shale gas flowback water is feasible and, when coupled with municipal anaerobic digestion effluent, may be able to result in comparable growth and lipid productivities to commercial nutrients and salts at similar initial nitrogen, salinity, and pH levels. The ability to use shale gas flowback water and AD effluent to cultivate marine

microalgae may remove a significant economic barrier to the algae biofuels industry in regards to water and nutrients required for cultivation. Further research is required in determining if similar growth rates and biomass productivities can be achieved with flowback waters from other shale gas exploration sites. Additionally, research in the continuous culture of microalgae in AD effluent and flowback water medium is also needed as it is currently uncertain if constituents like toxic metals will accumulate over time to levels inhibitory to microalgal growth. As the flowback water will eventually require disposal after microalgal cultivation, further research is still required in wastewater treatment technologies, such as desalinization.

References

Abdalla ,C.W., Drohan,J.R., Blunk,K.S., and Edson,J. Marcellus Shale Wastewater Issues in Pennsylvania (2011) Current and Emerging Treatment and Disposal Technologies. The Pennsylvania State University. Ref Type: Report

Al-lwayzy,S.H., Yusaf,T., and Al-Juboori,R.A. (2014) Biofuels from the Fresh Water Microalgae Chlorella vulgaris (FWM-CV) for Diesel Engines. *Energies (19961073)* **7**: 1829-1851.

Andersen, R.A. (2005) Algal culturing techniques. Access Online via Elsevier.

Azov,Y. and Goldman,J.C. (1982) Free Ammonia Inhibition of Algal Photosynthesis in Intensive Cultures. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **43**: 735-739.

Bajguz, A. and Czerpak, R. (1996) Effect of brassinosteroids on growth and proton extrusion in the alga Chlorella vulgaris Beijerinck (Chlorophyceae). *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* **15**: 153-156.

Becker, E.W. (1994) *Microalgae: Biotechnology and Microbiology*. Cambridge University Press.

Benemann, J.R. and Oswald, W.J. (1996) Systems and Economic Analysis of Microalgae Ponds for Conversion of Co2 to Biomass. Berkeley, CA, California University, Dept. of Civil Engineering. Ref Type: Report

Besson, A. and Guiraud, P. (2013) High-pH-induced flocculation of the hypersaline microalga Dunaliella salina. *Bioresource Technology* **147**: 464-470.

Boussiba,S., Vonshak,A., Cohen,Z., Avissar,Y., and Richmond,A. (1987) Lipid and biomass production by the halotolerant microalga Nannochloropsis salina. *Biomass* **12**: 37-47.

Buchanan,J.J., Slater,F.R., Bai,X., and Pratt,S. (2012) Algal growth and community structure in a mixed-culture system using coal seam gas water as the water source. *Environmental Technology* **34:** 695-701.

Bustillos-Guzmán, J., López-Cortés, D., Mathus, M., and Hernandez, F. (2001) Dynamics of pigment degradation by the copepodite stage of Pseudodiaptomus euryhalinus feeding on Tetraselmis suecica. *Marine Biology*.

Cai,T. (2012) Cultivation of Nannochloropsis salina and Synechocystis sp. PCC6803 in Anaerobic Digestion Effluent for Nutrient Removal and Lipid Production. Ohio State University.

Ref Type: Thesis/Dissertation

Cai,T., Ge,X., Park,S.Y., and Li,Y. (2013a) Comparison of Synechocystis sp. PCC6803 and Nannochloropsis salina for lipid production using artificial seawater and nutrients from anaerobic digestion effluent. *Bioresource Technology* **144:** 255-260.

Cai,T., Park,S.Y., and Li,Y. (2013b) Nutrient recovery from wastewater streams by microalgae: Status and prospects. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* **19:** 360-369.

Cai,T., Park,S.Y., Racharaks,R., and Li,Y. (2013c) Cultivation of Nannochloropsis salina using anaerobic digestion effluent as a nutrient source for biofuel production. *Applied Energy* **108**: 486-492.

Camacho-Rodríguez, J., González-Céspedes, A.M., Cerón-García, M.C., Fernández-Sevilla, J.M., Acién-Fernández, F.G., and Molina-Grima, E. (2014) A quantitative study of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) production by Nannochloropsis gaditana for aquaculture as a function of dilution rate, temperature and average irradiance. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **98:** 2429-2440.

Cerniglia, C.E., Gibson, D.T., and Van Baalen, C. (1980) Oxidation of Naphthalene by Cyanobacteria and Microalgae. *Microbiology Microbiology* **116:** 495-500.

Chen, C.Y. (1994) Effects of pH on the growth and carbon uptake of marine phytoplankton. *MARINE ECOLOGY- PROGRESS SERIES* **109:** 83.

Chen,C.Y., Yeh,K.L., Aisyah,R., Lee,D.J., and Chang,J.S. (2011a) Cultivation, photobioreactor design and harvesting of microalgae for biodiesel production: A critical review. *Bioresource Technology* **102:** 71-81.

Chen,H. and Jiang,J.G. (2009) Osmotic responses of Dunaliella to the changes of salinity. *Journal Of Cellular Physiology* **219:** 251-258.

Chen,H., Lao,Y.M., and Jiang,J.G. (2011b) Effects of salinities on the gene expression of a (NAD+)-dependent glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase in Dunaliella salina. *Science of The Total Environment* **409**: 1291-1297.

Chen,M. (2011) Effect of nutrients on growth and lipid accumulation in the green algae Dunaliella tertiolecta. *Bioresource Technology* **102:** 1649-1655.

Chinnasamy,S., Bhatnagar,A., Hunt,R.W., and Das,K.C. (2010) Microalgae cultivation in a wastewater dominated by carpet mill effluents for biofuel applications. *Bioresource Technology* **101**: 3097-3105.

Chouari,R., Le Paslier,D., Dauga,C., Daegelen,P., Weissenbach,J., and Sghir,A. (2005) Novel Major Bacterial Candidate Division within a Municipal Anaerobic Sludge Digester. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **71**: 2145-2153.

Cole, J.J. (1982) Interactions between bacteria and algae in aquatic ecosystems. *Annual Review of Ecology & Systematics* **13**.

Danquah, M.K., Gladman, B., Moheimani, N., and Forde, G.M. (2009) Microalgal growth characteristics and subsequent influence on dewatering efficiency. *Chemical Engineering Journal* **151**: 73-78.

Davis, J.P., Struchtemeyer, C.G., and Elshahed, M.S. (2012) Bacterial communities associated with production facilities of two newly drilled thermogenic natural gas wells in the Barnett Shale (Texas, USA). *Microbial ecology* **64**: 942-954.

de Bok,F.A.M., Harmsen,H.J.M., Plugge,C.M., de Vries,M.C., Akkermans,A.D.L., de Vos,W.M., and Stams,A.J.M. (2005) The first true obligately syntrophic propionateoxidizing bacterium, Pelotomaculum schinkii sp. nov., co-cultured with Methanospirillum hungatei, and emended description of the genus Pelotomaculum. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* **55**: 1697-1703.

de-Bashan,L., Bashan,Y., Moreno,M., Lebsky,V., and Bustillos,J. (2002) Increased pigment and lipid content, lipid variety, and cell and population size of the microalgae Chlorella spp. when co-immobilized in alginate beads with the microalgae-growth-promoting bacterium Azospirillum brasilense. *Can J Microbiol* **48**: 514-521.

Department Of Energy. (2009) National Algal Biofuels Technology Roadmap. Ref Type: Report

Doucette,G.J. (1995) Interactions between bacteria and harmful algae: A review. *Nat Toxins* **3:** 65-74.

Eaton, A.D., (2000) Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater: 20th ed. *Choice Reviews Online Choice Reviews Online* **37**: 37-2792.

EIA . (2011) Review of Emerging Resources: U.S. Shale Gas and Shale Oil Plays. 1-105. Washington, D.C., United States Department of Energy. Ref Type: Report EIA . (2012) Annual Energy Outlook. Ref Type: Report

Emdadi, D. and Berland, B. (1989) Variation in lipid class composition during batch growth of Nannochloropsis salina and Pavlova lutheri. *Marine Chemistry* **26**: 215-225.

Fichter, J.K., Johnson, K., French, K., and Oden, R. (2008) Use of microbiocides in barnett Shale gas well fracturing fluids to control bacteria related problems. *NACE - Int Corros Conf Ser NACE - International Corrosion Conference Series* 086581-0865814.

Folch, J., Lees, M., and Stanley, G.H.S. (1957) A simple method for isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **226**: 497-509.

Folkman, Y. and Wachs, A.M. (1973) Removal of algae from stabilization pond effluents by lime treatment. *Water Research* **7**: 419-435.

Fouilland, E. (2012) Biodiversity as a tool for waste phycoremediation and biomass production. *Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology* **11:** 1-4.

Fukami,K., Nishijima,T., and Ishida,Y. (1997) Stimulative and inhibitory effects of bacteria on the growth of microalgae. *Hydrobiologia* **358**: 185.

Gitelson,A.A., Grits,Y.A., Etzion,D., Ning,Z., and Richmond,A. (2000) Optical properties of Nannochloropsis sp and their application to remote estimation of cell mass. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **69**: 516-525.

Godos,I.d., Blanco,S., Garcia-Encina,P.A., Becares,E., and Munoz,R. (2009) Long-term operation of high rate algal ponds for the bioremediation of piggery wastewaters at high loading rates. *Bioresource Technology* **100**: 4332-4339.

Goldman, J.C. and Dennett, M.R. (1985) Susceptibility of some marine phytoplankton species to cell breakage during filtration and post-filtration rinsing. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* **86:** 47-58.

Gonzalez,L.E. and Bashan,Y. (2000) Increased growth of the microalga Chlorella vulgaris when coimmobilized and cocultured in alginate beads with the plant-growth-promoting bacterium Azospirillum brasilense. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **66:** 1527-1531.

Gouveia,L. and Oliveira,A. (2009) Microalgae as a raw material for biofuels production. *J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol* **36:** 269-274.

Gregory,K.B., Vidic,R.D., and Dzombak,D.A. (2011) Water Management Challenges Associated with the Production of Shale Gas by Hydraulic Fracturing. *Elements* **7:** 181-186.

Griffiths, M.J., Garcin, C., van Hille, R.P., and Harrison, S.T.L. (2011) Interference by pigment in the estimation of microalgal biomass concentration by optical density. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* **85:** 119-123.

Grossart,H.P. and Simon,M. (2007) Interactions of Planktonic Algae and Bacteria: Effects on Algal Growth and Organic Matter Dynamics. *Aquatic Microbial Ecology* 163-176.

GWPC, A.L.L Consulting, United States.Department of Energy.Office of Fossil Energy, and National Energy, T.L. (2009) *Modern Shale Gas Development in the United States: A Primer*. U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Fossil Energy.

Hamawand, I., Yusaf, T., and Hamawand, S.G. (2013) Coal seam gas and associated water: A review paper. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* **22**: 550-560.

Hammouda, O., Gaber, A., and Abdelraouf, N. (1995) Microalgae and Wastewater Treatment. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* **31**: 205-210.

Horiuchi, J.I., Ohba, I., Tada, K., Kobayashi, M., Kanno, T., and Kishimoto, M. (2003) Effective cell harvesting of the halotolerant microalga Dunaliella tertiolecta with pH control. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* **95**: 412-415.

Hsiu,L., Lin,C.C., Lin,Y.J., Lin,H.C., Shih,C.M., and Chen,C.R. (2010) Revisiting with a Relative-Density Calibration Approach the Determination of Growth Rates of Microorganisms by Use of Optical Density Data from Liquid Cultures. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **76**: 1683-1685.

Hu,H. and Gao,K. (2006) Response of growth and fatty acid compositions of Nannochloropsis sp. to environmental factors under elevated CO2 concentration. *Biotechnol Lett* **28**: 987-992.

Jenkins, C. and Boyer, C. (2008) Coalbed and Shale-Gas Reservoirs. *Journal ofPetroleum Technology* **60**: 92-99.

Jonker, J.G.G. and Faaij, A.P.C. (2012) Techno-economic assessment of micro-algae as feedstock for renewable bio-energy production. *Applied Energy*.

Keilin,D. (1936) The Action of Sodium Azide on Cellular Respiration and on some Catalytic Oxidation Reactions. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B* - *Biological Sciences* **121:** 165-173.

Khanal,S.K.E. (2010). Bioenergy and biofuel from biowastes and biomass [WWW document]. URL <u>http://site.ebrary.com/id/10435230</u>

Klausmeier, C.A., Litchman, E., Daufresne, T., and Levin, S.A. (2004) Optimal nitrogen-to-phosphorus stoichiometry of phytoplankton. *Nature* **429**: 171-174.

Konno,H. (1993) Settling and coagulation of slender type diatoms. *Water Science & Technology* 27.

Krienitz,L. and Wirth,M. (2006) The high content of polyunsaturated fatty acids in Nannochloropsis limnetica (Eustigmatophyceae) and its implication for food web interactions, freshwater aquaculture and biotechnology. *Limnologica - Ecology and Management of Inland Waters* **36**: 204-210.

Krzeminska, I., Pawlik-Skowronska, B., Trzcinska, M., and Tys, J. (2014) Influence of photoperiods on the growth rate and biomass productivity of green microalgae. *Bioprocess Biosyst Eng* **37**: 735-741.

Lansford,R.R. and Solar Energy Research Institute. (1990). Evaluation of available saline water resources in New Mexico for the production of microalgae [WWW document]. URL <u>http://purl.access.gpo.gov/GPO/LPS92821</u>

Lavoie, A. and de la Noüe, J. (1987) Harvesting of Scenedesmus obliquus in wastewaters: Auto- or bioflocculation? *Biotechnol Bioeng* **30**: 852-859.

Lee,A.K., Lewis,D.M., and Ashman,P.J. (2009) Microbial flocculation, a potentially lowcost harvesting technique for marine microalgae for the production of biodiesel. *Journal of Applied Phycology* **21**: 559-567.

Li,Y. and Watkins,B.A. (2001) Analysis of Fatty Acids in Food Lipids. In *Current Protocols in Food Analytical Chemistry*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc..

Liao, P.H., Chen, A., and Lo, K.V. (1995) Removal of nitrogen from swine manure wastewaters by ammonia stripping. *Bioresource Technology* **54**: 17-20.

Liu, J., Zhu, Y., Tao, Y., Zhang, Y., Li, A., and Li, T. (2013) Freshwater microalgae harvested via flocculation induced by pH decrease. *Biotechnology for Biofuels* **6**: 98.

Lourenco, F.R. (2011) Antibiotic microbial assay using kinetic-reading microplate system. *Bras J Pharm Sci Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* **47**: 573-584.

Lu,S., Wang,J., Ma,Q., Yang,J., Li,X., and Yuan,Y.J. (2013) Phospholipid Metabolism in an Industry Microalga Chlorella sorokiniana: The Impact of Inoculum Sizes. *PLoS ONE* **8:** e70827.

Lu,S., Wang,J., Niu,Y., Yang,J., Zhou,J., and Yuan,Y. (2012) Metabolic profiling reveals growth related FAME productivity and quality of Chlorella sorokiniana with different inoculum sizes. *Biotechnol Bioeng* **109**: 1651-1662.

Lubián,L.M., Montero,O., Moreno-Garrido,I., Huertas,I.E., Sobrino,C., González-del Valle,M., and Parés,G. (2000) Nannochloropsis (Eustigmatophyceae) as source of commercially valuable pigments. *Journal of Applied Phycology* **12**: 249-255.

Blauch,M.E., Myers,R.R., Lipinski,B.B., and Houston,N.A. (2009) Marcellus Shale Post-Frac Waters - Where is All the Salt Coming from and What are the Implications. SPE Eastern Regional Meeting. Charleston, West Virginia, Society of Petroleum Engineers. Ref Type: Conference Proceeding

Masuda, T., Polle, J.E.W., and Melis, A. (2002) Biosynthesis and Distribution of Chlorophyll among the Photosystems during Recovery of the Green Alga Dunaliella salina from Irradiance Stress. *Plant Physiology* **128**: 603-614.

Mata,T.M., Martins,A.A., and Caetano,N. (2010) Microalgae for biodiesel production and other applications: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* **14:** 217-232.

McLachlan, J. (1964) Some considerations of the growth of marine algae in artificial media. *Can J Microbiol* **10**: 769-782.

Munoz, R. and Guieysse, B. (2006) Algal-bacterial processes for the treatment of hazardous contaminants: A review. *Water Research* **40**.

Myers, J., Curtis, B., and Curtis, W. (2013) Improving accuracy of cell and chromophore concentration measurements using optical density. *BMC Biophysics* 6: 4.

Narihiro, T. and Sekiguchi, Y. (2007) Microbial communities in anaerobic digestion processes for waste and wastewater treatment: a microbiological update. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* **18**: 273-278.

Narro,M.L., Cerniglia,C.E., Van,B.C., and Gibson,D.T. (1992) Metabolism of phenanthrene by the marine cyanobacterium Agmenellum quadruplicatum PR-6. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **58**: 1351-1359.

Oh,H.M., Lee,S.J., Park,M.H., Kim,H.S., Kim,H.C., and Yoon,J.H. (2001) Harvesting of Chlorella vulgaris using a bioflocculant from Paenibacillus sp. AM49. *Biotechnol Lett* **23**: 1229-1234.

Olguin, E.J., Galicia, S., Camacho, R., Mercado, G., and Perez, T.J. (1997) Production of Spirulina sp. in sea water supplemented with anaerobic effluents in outdoor raceways

under temperate climatic conditions. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **48:** 242-247.

Paine,C.E.T., Marthews,T.R., Vogt,D.R., Purves,D., Rees,M., Hector,A., and Turnbull,L.A. (2012) How to fit nonlinear plant growth models and calculate growth rates: an update for ecologists. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* **3**: 245-256.

Papazi, A., Makridis, P., and Divanach, P. (2010) Harvesting Chlorella minutissima using cell coagulants. *Journal of Applied Phycology* **22**: 349-355.

Park, J., Jin, H.F., Lim, B.R., Park, K.Y., and Lee, K. (2010) Ammonia removal from anaerobic digestion effluent of livestock waste using green alga Scenedesmus sp. *Bioresource Technology* **101**: 8649-8657.

Patten, C.L. and Glick, B.R. (1996) Bacterial biosynthesis of indole-3-acetic acid. *Can J Microbiol* **42:** 207-220.

Paugh,L.O. (2008) Marcellus Shale Water Management Challenges in Pennsylvania. *SPE-119898-MS*.

Piloto-Rodríguez, R., Sánchez-Borroto, Y., Lapuerta, M., Goyos-Pérez, L., and Verhelst, S. (2013) Prediction of the cetane number of biodiesel using artificial neural networks and multiple linear regression. *Energy Conversion and Management* **65**: 255-261.

Pinto, G., Pollio, A., Previtera, L., and Temussi, F. (2002) Biodegradation of phenols by microalgae. *Biotechnol Lett* **24**: 2047-2051.

Pittman, J.K., Dean, A.P., and Osundeko, O. (2011) The potential of sustainable algal biofuel production using wastewater resources. *Bioresource Technology* **102**: 17-25.

Raghukumar, C., Vipparty, V., David, J.J., and Chandramohan, D. (2001) Degradation of crude oil by marine cyanobacteria. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **57:** 433-436.

Redfield, A.C. (1934) On the Proportions of Organic Derivatives in Sea Water and Their Relation to the Composition of Plankton. University Press of Liverpool.

Rees, M., Osborne, C., Woodward, I., Hulme, S., Turnbull, L., and Taylor, S. (2010) Partitioning the Components of Relative Growth Rate: How Important Is Plant Size Variation? *The American Naturalist* **176:** E152-E161.

Salim,S., Shi,Z., Vermuë,M.H., and Wijffels,R.H. (2013) Effect of growth phase on harvesting characteristics, autoflocculation and lipid content of Ettlia texensis for microalgal biodiesel production. *Bioresource Technology* **138**: 214-221.

Salim,S., Bosma,R., Vermuë,M., and Wijffels,R. (2011) Harvesting of microalgae by bio-flocculation. *J Appl Phycol* **23**: 849-855.

Salminen,E., Rintala,J., Harkonen,J., Kuitunen,M., Hogmander,H., and Oikari,A. (2001) Anaerobically digested poultry slaughterhouse wastes as fertiliser in agriculture. *Bioresource Technology* **78:** 81-88.

Schanz, F. and Zahler, U. (1981) Prediction of algal growth in batch cultures. *Schweizerische Zeitschrift für Hydrologie* **43:** 103-113.

Schenk, P., Thomas-Hall, S., Stephens, E., Marx, U., Mussgnug, J., and Posten, C. (2008) Second Generation Biofuels: High-Efficiency Microalgae for Biodiesel Production. *BioEnergy Research* 1: 20-43.

Semple,K.T., Cain,R.B., and Schmidt,S. (1999) Biodegradation of aromatic compounds by microalgae. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* **170**: 291-300.

Sheehan,J., Dunahay,T., Benemann,R., Roessler,G., and Weissman,C. (1998) A Look Back at the U.S. Department of Energy Aquatic Species Program: Biodiesel from Algae. Ref Type: Report

Sheets, J.P., Ge, X., Park, S.Y., and Li, Y. (2014) Effect of outdoor conditions on Nannochloropsis salina cultivation in artificial seawater using nutrients from anaerobic digestion effluent. *Bioresource Technology* **152**: 154-161.

Shuler, M.L. (2002) *Bioprocess engineering : basic concepts*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Smith,B.T. and Davis,R.H. (2012) Sedimentation of algae flocculated using naturally-available, magnesium-based flocculants. *Algal Research* **1:** 32-39.

Soderberg, R.W. and Meade, J.W. (1991) The Effects of Ionic Strength on Un-ionized Ammonia Concentration. *The Progressive Fish-Culturist* **53**: 118-120.

Soeder, D.J. and Kappel, W.M. (2009) Water Resources and Natural Gas Production from the Marcellus Shale. *U S Geological Survey Fact Sheet*.

Stramski, D., Rosenberg, G., and Legendre, L. (1993) Photosynthetic and optical properties of the marine chlorophyte Dunaliella tertiolecta grown under fluctuating light caused by surface-wave focusing. *Marine Biology* **115**: 363-372.

Struchtemeyer, C.G. and Elshahed, M.S. (2012) Bacterial communities associated with hydraulic fracturing fluids in thermogenic natural gas wells in North Central Texas, USA. *FEMS microbiology ecology* **81:** 13-25.

Struchtemeyer, C.G., Morrison, M.D., and Elshahed, M.S. (2012) A critical assessment of the efficacy of biocides used during the hydraulic fracturing process in shale natural gas wells. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation* **71**: 15-21.

Takagi,M., Karseno, and Yoshida,T. (2006) Effect of salt concentration on intracellular accumulation of lipids and triacylglyceride in marine microalgae Dunaliella cells. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* **101:** 223-226.

Uduman,N., Ying,Q., Danquah,M.K., Forde,G.M., and Hoadley,A. (2010) Dewatering of microalgal cultures: A major bottleneck to algae-based fuels. *Journal of Renewable & Sustainable Energy* **2**.

USEPA (1986) *Test methods for evaluating solid waste : physical/chemical methods.* Washington, D.C.: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response.

Vandamme, D., Foubert, I., Meesschaert, B., and Muylaert, K. (2010) Flocculation of microalgae using cationic starch. *Journal of Applied Phycology* **22**: 525-530.

Vandamme,D., Foubert,I., and Muylaert,K. (2013) Flocculation as a low-cost method for harvesting microalgae for bulk biomass production. *Trends in Biotechnology* **31**: 233-239.

Vasseur, C., Bougaran, G., Garnier, M., Hamelin, J., Leboulanger, C., and Chevanton, M.L. (2012) Carbon conversion efficiency and population dynamics of a marine algaebacteria consortium growing on simplified synthetic digestate: First step in a bioprocess coupling algal production and anaerobic digestion. *Bioresource Technology Bioresource Technology* **119**: 79-87.

Wang,L., Li,Y., Chen,P., Min,M., Chen,Y., Zhu,J., and Ruan,R.R. (2010) Anaerobic digested dairy manure as a nutrient supplement for cultivation of oil-rich green microalgae Chlorella sp. *Bioresource technology : biomass, bioenergy, biowastes, conversion technologies, biotransformations, production technologies* **101**: 2623-2628.

Wind,L. and Szymanski,W.W. (2002) Quantification of scattering corrections to the Beer-Lambert law for transmittance measurements in turbid media. *Measurement Science and Technology* **13:** 270-275.

Wiseman,H.J. (2008) Untested Waters: The Rise of Hydraulic Fracturing in Oil and Gas Production and the Need to Revisit Regulation. *Fordham Environmental Law Review* **20**: 115.

Wu,Z., Zhu,Y., Huang,W., Zhang,C., Li,T., Zhang,Y., and Li,A. (2012) Evaluation of flocculation induced by pH increase for harvesting microalgae and reuse of flocculated medium. *Bioresource Technology* **110**: 496-502.

Xin,L. (2010) Effects of different nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations on the growth, nutrient uptake, and lipid accumulation of a freshwater microalga Scenedesmus sp. *Bioresource Technology* **101:** 5494-5500.

Yang,J., Xu,M., Zhang,X., Hu,Q., Sommerfeld,M., and Chen,Y. (2011) Life-cycle analysis on biodiesel production from microalgae: Water footprint and nutrients balance. *Bioresource Technology* **102**.

Zhu,C.J. and Lee,Y.K. (1997) Determination of biomass dry weight of marine microalgae. *Journal of Applied Phycology* **9:** 189-194.

Appendix A: Wavelength Selection for Algal Biomass Estimations Based on Optical Density

A.1. Introduction

The assessment of microalgae cultivated in wastewater is potentially problematic because of the possible presence of non-algal solids and particles. For example, shale gas flowback water has been reported to contain elevated concentrations of total dissolved solid, minerals, hydrocarbons, metals, oils, greases, and soluble organic compounds (Abdalla et al., 2011; Gregory et al., 2011). Conventional methods to assess microalgal growth, such as dry weight, are inaccurate for cells grown in medium containing noncellular solids (Shuler, 2002). Similarly, optical density (OD), the most common measurement in microbiology laboratories to assess microbial growth, is also complicated by the presence of non-photosynthetic biomass (Griffiths et al., 2011; Myers et al., 2013). As such, a study was conducted with the following aims: 1) evaluate the relationship between wavelength, OD, and algal dry biomass and 2) select the wavelength which minimized interference of non-algal particulates on biomass approximations for future research involving the flowback water. Chosen wavelengths were analyzed concurrently with the microalgal experiments involving growth in the AD effluent and the flowback water. Accuracy of the chosen wavelengths was then assessed by comparing the algal dry biomass measurements to the biomass concentrations predicted by OD during microalgal cultivation experiments used for lipid analysis.

A.2. Literature Review

Optical density (OD) is often used as a rapid measurement for suspended biomass concentrations and is the most common measurement in microbiology laboratories to assess microbial growth (Myers et al., 2013). The premise behind most laboratory studies involving OD is the use of the Beer-Lambert Law (Figure 12).



Figure 10: Typical laboratory cuvette used with optical density measurements.

$$OD = -log\left[\frac{I}{I_0}\right] = \varepsilon * c * l$$

Where:

$$I_0$$
 = incident intensity of light

I = measured intensity of light

 ε = attenuation coefficient

c = sample concentration

l = path length

As shown in this equation, the optical density of a sample is directly related to the cell concentration in the sample, as well as the path length and the attenuation coefficient. The attenuation coefficient characterizes the degree which a species or suspension attenuates light. The path length defines the distance between the incident intensity of light and the measured intensity of light. To use the Beer-Lambert law, both the attenuation coefficient and the path length (standardized at 1 cm for most spectrophotometers) are assumed constant. Specifically, it is assumed that the attenuation coefficient is derived from light absorption that occurs in a single-phase, homogenous solution. With these assumptions, optical density is linearly correlated in the following equation with the measured species, such as biomass (Griffiths et al., 2011; Hsiu et al., 2010; Myers et al., 2013).

[X] = m * OD

Where:

[X] = concentration of species (biomass)

Difficulty in appropriately applying this equation to microalgal biomass measurements arises as microalgal suspensions are typically two-phase solutions composed of a solid (microalgal biomass) and a liquid (growth media) phase. The inherent refractive index of each phase and the resulting mismatch of the refractive index of the suspension results in an attenuation coefficient being composed of both absorption and scattering components. Wavelengths which correspond to an absorbance maximum by chlorophyll *a* in algae (e.g. 680 nm) maximize the absorption component while wavelengths which fall outside the absorbance maximum (e.g. 550) maximize the scattering component. Because scattering may redirect light away from the photosensor or cause light to be reemitted at a lower frequency, the linear relationship between OD and sample concentration is no longer completely valid (Griffiths et al., 2011; Hsiu et al., 2010; Myers et al., 2013).

Despite these difficulties, researchers have used a variety of wavelengths without a consensus on whether wavelength choice is dependent on culturing conditions. Table 8 shows the wide range of wavelengths previously considered for different strains and media. Research conducted by Myers et al. (2013) and Griffiths et al. (2011) suggested that wavelengths associated with scattering (e.g. 550 nm) may prolong the linear correlation between OD and sample concentration as they are not dependent on cell pigment. However, it was also suggested that such wavelengths may be inappropriate in medium containing components which may interfere with cell scattering, such as the presence of non-photosynthetic material. Because of the lack of research regarding appropriate wavelength choice for media such as wastewater, this study aimed to select the wavelength that was least effected by non-algal particulates and thus most appropriate for future research involving flowback water.

91
Microalgae Strain	Wavelength (nm)	Media	Reference
Dunaliella tertiolecta	405	Erdschreiber's medium	(Chen, 2011)
Nannochloropsis	440	Diluted municipal AD	(Cai et al., 2013c)
salina		effluent	
Chlorella vulgaris	515	MBL Medium Woods-Hole	(Al-lwayzy et al., 2014)
Chlorella vulgaris Dunaliella tertiolecta	540	Various artificial media	(Gouveia and Oliveira, 2009)
Botryoccus braunii	650	Kessler's medium	(Krzeminska et al., 2014)
Chlorella sp.	680	Diluted manure AD effluent	(Wang et al., 2010)
Aphanizomenon flos-	750	ASN-1-TR medium	(Schanz and Zahler, 1981)
aquae			

Table 8: Previously used wavelengths to approximate microalgal biomass.

A.3. Materials and Methods

A.3.1. The relationship between wavelength, optical density, and algal dry biomass

N. salina, *D. tertiolecta*, *D. salina*, and *T. suecica* were cultivated in 2-L reactors (1-L working volume) at 25°C under constant illumination (200 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) using 32-watt florescent lamps (GE Lighting, Ravenna, OH, USA). Reactors were placed in a white coated chamber and each reactor was equipped with rubber stoppers and 4.76 mm diameter stainless steel tubing for air inlet/outlet. Air sparging, by the use of filter-sterilized (0.2 μ m Whatman PTFE Puradisc, GE Healthcare, Maidstone, UK) ambient air (0.039% CO₂) at an airflow rate of 650 mL min⁻¹, was used to continuously mix the cultures. Reactors were filled to 1-L with appropriate seed culture media, described in Section 2.3.1, and seed inoculum for an initial optical density of 0.1 at 680 nm. The cultivation period was 18 days.

Before sampling, evaporation and previous sampling losses were accounted for by additions of DI water, as described previously. A sample volume of 50-mL was removed daily from each reactor. Optical density (OD) at wavelengths between 300-800 nm in increments of 10 nm was measured with a microplate reader (Eon[®] microplate spectrophotometer, Biotek, Winooski, VT, USA) using 96-well, flat bottom microplates (Costar[®], Corning, Corning, NY). All microplate measurements were performed using 200-µL aliquots, in triplicates.

The dry biomass content of the algal samples was determined and reported in terms of ash-free dry weight (AFDW) as previously described. To minimize the influence of algal growth media on OD measurements, a blank of the media was created by removing 200- μ L aliquots, in triplicates, from the collected filtrate before additions of the NH₄HCO₃ wash. The OD of the aliquots was measured using the method mentioned previously and then subtracted from the OD of the corresponding algal sample.

A.3.2. Impact of wavelength on microalgal growth estimations

The experiment involving the evaluation of marine microalgae in AD effluent and flowback water was previously described in Section 2.3.3. In addition to the previously mentioned experimental design, the OD of the daily algal samples was also measured at 800 nm, a wavelength determined in Appendix A.4.1 to result in the highest correlation coefficient between OD and algal dry biomass. As previously described in Section 2.3.3, a blank of the media was created by removing 200-µL aliquots, in triplicates, from the supernatant after centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 15 min (Centrifuge 5810 R, Eppendorf, Enfield, CT, USA). The OD of the supernatant aliquots was measured and then subtracted from the OD of the corresponding algal sample.

A.3.3. Evaluation of optical density as a method to approximate algal biomass

Evaluation of OD as a proxy for algal biomass estimations at 680 nm and 800 nm was performed concurrently with the experiment described in Section 2.3.4. In addition to the ash-free dry weight (AFDW) of the 50-mL algal samples, OD was also measured at 680 nm and 800 nm by measuring 200- μ L aliquots, in triplicates, with a microplate reader. To minimize the influence of algal growth media on OD measurements, a blank of the media was created by removing 200- μ L aliquots, in triplicates, from the collected filtrate before additions of the NH₄HCO₃ wash. The OD of the aliquots was measured

using the method mentioned previously and then subtracted from the OD of the corresponding algal sample.

A.4. Results and Discussion

A.4.1. The relationship between wavelength, optical density, and algal dry biomass

In order to identify optimal wavelengths for the measurements of algal biomass, correlation curves between algal dry biomass concentration ($g L^{-1}AFDW$) and OD were obtained. The results of 51 independent correlations are summarized in Figures 11 and 12 as plots between the correlation coefficient (\mathbb{R}^2) and wavelength. For N. salina, D. *tertiolecta*, and *T. suecica* (Figures 11a, 11b, and 12b respectively), the maximum R² was obtained at a wavelength of 800 nm ($R^2 = 0.93$, 0.92, and 0.97 respectively). In contrast, the widely used wavelength of 680 nm produced the lowest R² for N. salina, D. salina, and T. suecica ($R^2=0.81$, 0.86, and 0.87 respectively). These results are supported by previous research which suggested that wavelengths outside the maximal absorbance range of chlorophyll-a (400-460 nm and 680 nm) minimize correlation discrepancies between OD and biomass. In particular, Griffiths et al. (2011) found that a wavelength of 750 nm was less affected by the pigment content of *Chlorella vulgaris* grown under high and low nitrogen conditions. Similarly, Myers et al. (2013) observed almost identical correlations between dry weight and OD for 550 nm yet a difference of 34% for 680 nm for Nannochloropsis sp. under varying nitrogen conditions. The increase in robustness in OD measurements observed for these wavelengths is attributed to the independence of light scattering on pigment levels for light attenuation (Myers et al., 2013).

The influence of algal pigments on the linear correlation between OD and biomass is further illustrated by observing the trends of both R² vs. wavelength and OD vs. wavelength in Figures 11 and 12. For example, *N. salina* (Figure 11a) is an algal strain devoid of photosynthetic pigments other than chlorophyll-*a* and resultantly showed clear absorbance peaks at 440 nm, 490 nm, 580 nm, 630 nm, and 680 nm. The peaks near 490 nm result from absorption by carotenoids while the remaining peaks are attributed to absorption by chlorophyll-*a* (Gitelson et al., 2000). As can be seen in Figure 11a, these peaks corresponded to local minimums in the plot of R² vs. wavelength. This inverse relationship between absorbance peaks and R² local minimums was not as apparent for *D*. *tertiolecta*, *D*. *salina*, and *T*. *suecica* and may be complicated by the presence of chlorophyll-*b* in addition to chlorophyll-*a* (Bustillos-Guzmán et al., 2001; Masuda et al., 2002; Stramski et al., 1993).

It is worth noting that *D. salina* was found to be unique in having a maximum R^2 at a wavelength of 300 nm (R^2 =0.97). As this wavelength is well outside the visible spectrum and within ultraviolet range, it is seldom considered a candidate for algal biomass correlations. Interestingly, *D. tertiolecta* showed a similar response at 300 nm with a relatively high R^2 (R^2 =0.91). Since both *N. salina* and *T. suecica* show a relatively poor correlation at 300 nm (R^2 =0.86 and 0.90), it can be hypothesized that a high correlation at 300 nm does not necessitate the presence or absence of chlorophyll-*b*. It remains uncertain whether this characteristic is unique to *Dunaliella* sp. or if other unknown factors are attributing to this unusual correlation.

Wavelengths of 680 nm and 800 nm were chosen for further analysis as they represent wavelengths that either produced an absorbance maxima or the maximum R^2 for the selected algal strains. A detailed representation of the linear regression between biomass concentration (g L⁻¹ AFDW) and OD for all four algal strains can be seen in

Figures 13 and 14. The calculated root-mean-square error (RMSE) from linear regression analysis is summarized in Table 9. A common phenomenon of the linear regression models observed for the entire 18 day growth period is the tendency to under predict biomass concentrations at low and high ODs and the tendency to over predict at midranged ODs (Figures 13 and 14). *N. salina* (Figure 13a), for example, showed considerable fluctuation over the range of ODs. While the wavelength of 800 nm reduced the magnitude of this error for all strains when compared to 680 nm (Table 9), this fluctuation between OD and biomass was not eliminated. Even the highly correlated wavelength of 300 nm for *D. salina* showed observable fluctuations and areas of over and under prediction. This persistent error was also observed by Griffiths (2011) who attributed this error to changing pigment, age, and condition of the cells under culture.

Based on these results, correlation equations for use in the remainder of the study were established between biomass concentration (g L^{-1} AFDW) and OD for 680 nm and 800 nm (below). Equations were calculated based upon the region of the correlation curve which produced normally distributed residuals to minimize prediction errors during exponential growth. It is accepted that such a method, as noted above, will under predict biomass concentrations at the beginning and end of the growth period. *T. suecica* was omitted from future experimentation as a result of equipment limitations.
$$\begin{split} N. \, salina \, \left(g \, L^{-1} A F D W\right) &= 0.3987 * O D_{680} \\ N. \, salina \, \left(g \, L^{-1} A F D W\right) &= 0.8034 * O D_{800} \\ D. \, tertiolecta \, \left(g \, L^{-1} A F D W\right) &= 0.9235 * O D_{680} \\ D. \, tertiolecta \, \left(g \, L^{-1} A F D W\right) &= 1.5418 * O D_{800} \\ D. \, salina \, \left(g \, L^{-1} A F D W\right) &= 0.9044 * O D_{680} \\ D. \, salina \, \left(g \, L^{-1} A F D W\right) &= 1.6982 * O D_{800} \end{split}$$



Figure 11: Effect of wavelength selection on the correlation coefficient (\mathbb{R}^2) between algal dry biomass and optical density for (a) *N. salina* and (b) *D. tertiolecta*. Optical density (OD) spectra of the microalgae were arbitrarily chosen to display significant absorbance peaks.



Figure 12: Effect of wavelength selection on the correlation coefficient (\mathbb{R}^2) between algal dry biomass and optical density for (a) *D. salina* and (b) *T. suecica*. Optical density (OD) spectra of the microalgae were arbitrarily chosen to display significant absorbance peaks.



Figure 13: Effect of wavelength selection on the performance of using optical density for biomass concentration approximations of (a) *N. salina* and (b) *D. tertiolecta*. Shaded regions represent 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 14 Effect of wavelength selection on the performance of using optical density for biomass concentration approximations of (a) *D. salina* and (b) *T. suecica*. Shaded regions represent 95% confidence intervals.

	RMSE (%)		
Strain	300 nm	680 nm	800 nm
N. salina		19.7	12.0
D. tertiolecta		9.1	7.5
D. salina	2.8	7.0	4.3
T. suecica		16.6	8.0

Table 9: Effect of wavelength selection on the root-mean-square error (RMSE) of the linear regression between optical density and algal biomass concentration.

A.4.2. Impact of wavelength on microalgal growth estimations

The specific growth rates, μ (day⁻¹), estimated by the fitted model for both strains at different loadings of AD effluent loading in flowback water, are shown in Figure 15a. The estimated specific growth rate was found to be dependent on both wavelength and algal strain (p<0.05). For example, the wavelength of 800 nm systematically underestimated the specific growth rate when compared to 680 nm for *D. tertiolecta*. Estimates for *N. salina*, however, were not significantly altered by wavelength choice (p>0.05).

Average biomass productivities (mg $L^{-1}day^{-1}$) are summarized in Figure 15b. ANOVA analysis indicated that the average biomass productivity was dependent on both the wavelength and the AD effluent loading (p<0.05). For example, while *D. tertiolecta* was observed to obtain the highest average biomass productivity in the 6% AD effluent loading in the flowback water as estimated by the wavelength of 680 nm, the wavelength of 800 nm estimated that the highest average biomass productivity was observed in the 2%AD effluent loading in the flowback water.

The cause of the different growth parameter estimates based on both wavelength and algal strain is currently uncertain. As indicated by previous research, factors such as changes in cell size, aggregation, cell structure, or in the prevalence of suspended solids in the media may contribute to changes in OD (Griffiths et al., 2011; Myers et al., 2013).



■ D. tertiolecta (680 nm) ■ D. tertiolecta (800 nm) ℕ N. salina (680 nm) ℕ N. salina (800 nm)

Figure 15: Effect of wavelength selection on the estimated (a) specific growth rate and (b) average biomass productivity for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* cultured in multiple anaerobic digestion effluent loadings in the flowback water. Estimates were calculated based on optical density at either 680 nm or 800 nm.

A.4.3. Evaluation of optical density as a method to approximate algal biomass

A.4.3.1. Algal growth curves

Algal growth curves created from 680 nm, 800 nm, and AFDW are shown in Figures 16 and 17 for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta*, respectively. For both strains, biomass concentrations derived from AFDW for the 6% AD effluent and flowback water media are significantly higher (p<0.05) than the media based on the commercial nutrients and salts. Wavelength was also determined to be a significant factor in regards to media type and that the wavelength of 800 nm estimated a significantly lower biomass concentration with the 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water media compared to the media based on the commercial nutrients and salts (p<0.05). Biomass concentrations estimated by 680 nm for both media, however, showed no significant difference (p>0.05).

The similar biomass concentrations estimated at 680 nm for both media and for both strains suggested that not only was algal growth similar in both media, but also that the differences in biomass concentrations derived from 800 nm and AFDW may be caused by the presence of suspended solids in the 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water media. Since inoculation size was controlled, the calculated difference of ~0.07 \pm 0.02 g L⁻¹ AFDW between the two media on Day 0 further suggested the presence of suspended solids in the 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water media. It was initially believed that a wavelength of 800 nm would overestimate algal biomass correlations in such a media as light attenuation is based primarily on light scattering by suspended particles. The statistically lower biomass concentration with the 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water media by 800 nm seemed to suggest that the opposite is true; that the presence of suspended solids lowered the estimated biomass concentration at 800 nm. A possible explanation is that the presence of additional particles in the media may be redirecting initially scattered light back towards the photo sensor, lowering the estimated OD (Myers et al., 2013; Wind and Szymanski, 2002). These results suggested that a wavelength of 680 nm may be less effected by the presence of non-algal solids in the media and therefore more appropriate for calculating algal biomass concentrations based on OD.



Figure 16: Effect of biomass quantification method on the estimated growth of *N. salina* in media composed of different nutrient and salinity sources. Growth curves were calculated from approximations based on ash-free dry weight (AFDW) or optical density at 680 nm or 800 nm. Media evaluated included commercial nutrients and salts (F/2+CS) and 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water (6%AD+FW).



Figure 17: Effect of biomass quantification method on the estimated growth of *D. tertiolecta* in media composed of different nutrient and salinity sources. Growth curves were calculated from approximations based on ash-free dry weight (AFDW) or optical density at 680 nm or 800 nm. Media evaluated included commercial nutrients and salts (F/2+CS) and 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water (6% AD+FW).

A.4.3.2. Logistic growth parameters

The effect of biomass approximations by OD and AFDW on the on the estimated specific growth rates (μ , day⁻¹) and the estimated average biomass productivities (mg L⁻¹day⁻¹) for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* cultivated in the two different media can be seen in Figure 18. In regards to the specific growth rate (Figure 18a), the estimates based on 680 nm for *N. salina* were significantly higher than the estimates derived from AFDW (p<0.05). Additionally, the estimates for the average biomass productivity (Figure 18b) based on AFDW were significantly higher than both methods based on OD (p<0.05). Significant differences between the different media from using estimates based on OD or AFDW were not observed (p>0.05).

The significant difference of the estimates for the average biomass productivity when AFDW is used compared to both OD methods may suggest a limitation and weakness to using OD as a proxy for biomass. As discussed in Appendix A.4.1, deviations from linearity between OD and biomass cannot be avoided because of inherent changes in pigment, age, and condition of the cells under culture (Griffiths et al., 2011). Because these changes become more apparent with prolonged cultivation, estimates near the end of the growth curve may contain inherently more deviations and thus may be inherently more inaccurate.

The theory behind using a wavelength based on scattering, such as 800 nm, is that the inherent deviations in OD from changes in cell pigments are minimized, as discussed in Appendix A.4.1. As seen in Figure 18b, the average biomass productivity estimates based on 800 nm are ~5% closer to the estimates based on AFDW than the estimates by 680 nm in the control media. The estimates based on the wavelength of 800 nm, however, are not significantly different from the values estimated by 680 nm (p>0.05). Wavelengths based on scattering are also further complicated by the presence of suspended particles which may interfere with OD, as mentioned in Appendix A.4.3.1. As seen in Figure 18b, the larger estimates for average biomass productivity when 800 nm is used is no longer apparent when compared to 680 nm in the media composed of the flowback water supplemented with the 6% AD effluent.

In general, wavelength choice had little impact on the logistic model parameters based on OD. This is likely because parameters such as growth rate are determined by the changes and trends with OD over time and not point value estimates. Additionally, the presence of suspended solids in the 6% AD effluent loading in flowback water media, mentioned in Appendix A.4.3.1, were not found to significantly affect the estimated trajectory of the growth curves as significant differences between the two media were no observed for either the estimated specific growth rate or the estimated average biomass productivity. The wavelength of 680 nm was chosen for future experiments with the media composed of the flowback water and the AD effluent to avoid potential complications with suspended particulates, as previously discussed in Appendix A.4.3.1. Because of the inherent inaccuracies with calculations based on OD (see Appendix A.4.3.2), the specific growth rates and the average biomass productivities in Section 2.4.4 were reported based on estimates derived from AFDW.



Figure 18: Effect of biomass quantification method on the estimated (a) specific growth rate and (b) average biomass productivity for *N. salina* and *D. tertiolecta* cultivated in media composed of different nutrient and salinity sources. Estimates were calculated from approximations based on ash-free dry weight (AFDW) or optical density at 680 nm or 800 nm. Media evaluated included commercial nutrients and salts (F/2+CS) and 6% anaerobic digestion effluent loading in the flowback water (6% AD+FW). Microalgal strains evaluated included *D. tertiolecta* (DT) and *N. salina* (NS).

A.5. Conclusions

Because of the possible interference of wastewater particulate matter, the relationship between algal dry biomass and OD at wavelengths between 300 to 800 nm for various algal strains was first studied. The majority of strains exhibited a correlation coefficient (\mathbb{R}^2) minimum at 680 nm, which corresponded to a chlorophyll-*a* absorption maxima. This indicated that the pigment content varied with the different stages of algal growth. In contrast, the wavelengths outside the absorption range of chlorophyll-*a* for all strains corresponded to increases in \mathbb{R}^2 . For example, the wavelength of 800 nm resulted in the highest \mathbb{R}^2 for the majority of the microalgae studied. The wavelengths of 680 nm and 800 nm were further studied and the results of the microalgal screening experiment and the algal dry biomass estimates suggested that 680 nm was the most appropriate wavelength for future experiments involving the flowback water and the AD effluent as it was found least effected by suspended solids.